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CHAIRMANS REPORT 

 
Dear Shareholder, 
 
The D‟Aguilar Board, Management and staff have worked consistently over the past 12 months toward 
developing D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd into an impressive Resource and Investment Company. Historically, D‟Aguilar has 
generated new exploration concepts and projects that subsequently emerge into stand-alone resource 
companies. D‟Aguilar‟s remarkable ability to create assets from scratch, not simply purchase them from 
others, allows us to fully exercise innovative geological ideas to create globally significant companies. 
Ultimately these creations are managed and developed to maturity by an independent Board of Directors and 
CEO. D‟Aguilar assists these companies with capital raisings and Stock Exchange listings through the 
experience of D‟Aguilar‟s staff.  

 
This company is steadily building a rich and diverse asset base of people. The ethos behind D‟Aguilar‟s already 
unique business model is to focus on placing time, energy and resources into people with big ideas and the 
entrepreneurial drive to bring them to life. As a result, D‟Aguilar can keep generating subsidiary companies 
that spin-out and operate independently. Geologists and other industry professionals, looking for funding and 
assistance with exploration concepts are now seeking and recognising the value offered by a business structure 
such as D‟Aguilar‟s. We welcome such approaches. 

 

This understanding that D‟Aguilar is not only able to provide funding for ideas, but also assistance in all forms, 
especially guidance in the early critical stages of their projects, is a testament to the quality of our creations. 
D‟Aguilar also presents access to an extremely capable group of highly skilled geoscientists, with diverse global 
minerals experience and a track record of significant discoveries. D‟Aguilar is also in the enviable position of 
being able to provide the skills of highly experienced management and board professionals.  As Chairman of 
the Board, I can honestly say that D‟Aguilar demonstrably adds value to any project or concept that has 
potential in the global commodities market. 

 

Last year, I outlined our matchless business model in my AGM address. I am very proud and pleased to report 
that we have both refined and advanced the model very successfully throughout this year. D‟Aguilar is rapidly 
gaining recognition in the resource industry and is becoming known for its expertise, passion and 
understanding in this specialized area. 

 

D‟Aguilar is strongly represented in the gold space. The year 2011 saw the emergence and subsequent 
development of two overseas projects; Mt Isa Metals‟ gold exploration project in Burkina Faso, Africa and 
Navaho Gold‟s exploration project in Nevada, USA. These two gold companies give D‟Aguilar a substantial 
interest in the world‟s most endowed gold provinces near the Carlin and Battle Mountain trends in Nevada, 
USA and the incredibly promising Birimian Greenstone province in Africa. Both of these companies have 
potential to become globally important gold companies, and (as a major shareholder in each) D‟Aguilar is well 
placed to benefit immeasurably. D‟Aguilar‟s interest in Solomon Gold with a growing resource in Queensland, 
(now 380koz contained gold and 12 million ounces contained silver) and promising mega targets in Solomon 
Islands is the third leg of our currently listed gold portfolio.  

 
Further offshore participations are being envisaged and D‟Aguilar‟s momentum will propel them forward 
towards development in 2012. Details of our progress and achievements are dealt with in the Review of 
Operations and Future Developments sections in this report; which I recommend you take the time to read. 

 

Currently, D‟Aguilar‟s major focus is on progressing Armour Energy, our emerging gas giant, to a public listing 
at the end of 2011. Armour plans a substantial raising managed by JP Morgan and Deutsche Bank in late 2011. 
Armour Energy holds a large and strategic ground position in the Northern Territory and Northern Queensland, 
with access to the coast and existing infrastructure. We believe the area is prospective for over 40 TCF of 
shale gas. It also boasts an impeccable management team. D‟Aguilar Managing Director, Nick Mather, is 
Armour Energy‟s Executive Chairman. Nick can claim a key role in the early success in positioning Arrow Energy 
in the immense Surat Basin‟s coal bed methane projects. Nick was one of the prime motivators and drivers 
behind Arrow Energy‟s coal bed methane exploration and production and was also instrumental in the creation 
and emergence of Bow Energy (which was sponsored by Arrow Energy) as one of the emerging big players in 
the Coal Seam Gas industry. As Arrow Energy Chairman during its formative years, I had the good fortune to 
work alongside Nick and I am very much looking forward to serving with him on the Armour Board. Armour 
Energy CEO, Mr. Phil McNamara, also brings a proud and successful record in the resources industry. Phil‟s 
accomplishments in the development and financing of huge coal projects will be of immense value in the 
development of this shale gas project. 
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Whilst I acknowledge that companies of our size in the resources industry may have a challenging year ahead, I 
also firmly believe that D‟Aguilar Gold has amply demonstrated in its past and recent history its ability to meet 
challenges and to ultimately successfully progress through them to a brighter and better future. 
 
In conclusion, I would like to thank the D‟Aguilar Management Team, all the staff and my fellow Directors for 
their hard work and dedication in 2011 and more importantly I would like to thank our shareholders for their 
faith and support in what is sometimes described as uncertain times, and reassure them that D‟Aguilar has a 
strong and realistic vision and direction for the forward growth and sustainability of the company and is well 
on its way toward becoming a significant Resource and Investment Company. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Bill Stubbs 
Chairman 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Gold-Silver 

 Solomon Gold plc (DGR 35.2 million shares – 12.5%) inferred mineral resource at the Rannes project, 
Central Queensland, 273,199 ounces contained gold and 10.67 million ounces contained silver at 
June, with two drilling rigs employed. 

 Navaho Gold Ltd (DGR 27 million shares – 29%) holds substantial prospective ground position in 
Queensland and Nevada, USA adjacent to the world‟s most riches gold provinces. Drilling underway in 
Nevada. 

 Mt Isa Metals Ltd (DGR 52 million shares – 33%) announced 3.6 km long discovery at Nabanga (drilling 
underway); 14 km long gold geochemical anomaly at Kamsongo; and 6 km x 2.8 km gold geochemical 
anomaly at Boungou in Burkina Faso. 

Nickel-Cobalt 

 AusNiCo Ltd (DGR 59 million shares – 53%) extends nickel-cobalt mineralised zone by drilling near 
Kilkivan, with copper and gold credits. 

Copper-Gold-Silver-Molybdenum 

 Archer Resources Ltd (formerly Anduramba Molybdenum -DGR 67%) and wholly owned subsidiary 
Barlyne Mining Pty Ltd assembles package of 7 major porphyry copper gold silver molybdenum 
Projects ahead of IPO in FY 2012.  

 Exciting silver potential at the Rossmore Prospect in the Pinnacles Project area. 
Iron-Titanium-Aluminium 

 IronRidge Resources Ltd (formerly Ridge Exploration – DGR 86%) prepares for IPO and ASX listing with 
appointment of CEO pending. 

Gas-Oil 

 Armour Energy Ltd (DGR 50%) completes $14 million seed raising ahead of IPO and ASX listing late 
2011 after securing almost 130,000 km² of very prospective tenements in the Northern Territory and 
North West Queensland. Initially targeting 40 TCF of conventional and shale gas on EPs 171 and 176 
covering the Batten Trough. 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
Since late 2006 when it re-defined its business model, D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd (D‟Aguilar or the Company) has firmly 
established its credentials as a generator of exploration and development companies in a wide array of 
minerals in Australia and overseas.  
 
Other companies have several projects but D‟Aguilar offers several distinct points of difference which gives 
the Group competitive advantages: 

1. D‟Aguilar generates its projects directly through the skills and experience of its team of accomplished 
geoscientist explorationists (evident by the experience and track record of senior management as 
outlined elsewhere in this report), thus avoiding the costly capital expense of purchasing projects. 

2. Each project or exploration strategy is held in a separate subsidiary.  
3. Focused or specialist management for each project/commodity/strategy are engaged as required. 
4. Project-specific finance is raised in the subsidiaries – it‟s faster, and less dilutive to D‟Aguilar. 
5. When appropriate, the subsidiary can be separately capitalised – for example by an IPO. 
6. Investors can choose to either invest specifically in a project/commodity by investing in the subsidiary 

or, by investing in D‟Aguilar, they can invest in the resource company generating business as well as 
having the substantial indirect carried interest via the significant D‟Aguilar equity retained in the 
subsidiaries. This way D‟Aguilar and its subsidiaries offers appeal to a wider range of investors. 

7. The projects tend to be very large – in this way the opportunity to make world class discoveries and 
efficiencies of scale is maximised. 

8. The exploration concepts are often novel. While increased metals prices and advances in technology 
can turn former sub economic deposits into viable projects, D‟Aguilar‟s subsidiary projects frequently 
involve reassessment of large data bases with new angles and different focus. Again, while existing 
models might be applied to a new area alternatively new exploration models may be developed and 
applied to extensive exploration areas which can lead to the discovery of nationally important 
mineral provinces. 
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The D‟Aguilar Group corporate structure at 30 June 2011 is shown in Figure 1.  
 

 
 

Figure 1: D’Aguilar Gold Ltd Corporate Structure (30 June 2011) 
 
 
 
Reviewing the D‟Aguilar business model and strategy as applied over the past year, the Company can positively 
report: 

1. Significant progress in the growth of unconventional oil and gas subsidiary Armour Energy Ltd after 

the appointment of Mr Phil McNamara as CEO. A whole new gas province secured in the Northern 

Territory, and Armour announced as the successful tenderer for the South Nicholson ATP in north- 

west Queensland. Successfully raised $14 million in seed capital ahead of a proposed $75 million IPO 

and ASX listing in late 2011. 

2. Solomon Gold has defined a new gold equivalent resource of 676,000 ounces at its Central Queensland 

Rannes Project where there are 22 prospects over a 30km strike length, defining a new province with 

the potential to yield 2 million ounces of gold equivalent. 

3. Gold – silver subsidiary Navaho Gold Ltd (ASX: NVG) raised $1 million in seed capital to complete 

farm-in agreements for seven highly prospective “Carlin-like” gold properties on the Carlin and Battle 

Mountain-Eureka Trends in Nevada, USA. Subsequently NVG raised $9 million in an IPO and listed on 

the ASX on 11 April 2011. Post IPO DGR holds 27 million shares representing 29% of NVG. 

4. Nickel- cobalt subsidiary AusNiCo Ltd (ASX: ANW) IPO closed oversubscribed and listed on the ASX on 

21 October 2010. Post IPO DGR holds 58.85 million shares representing 53% of ANW. 

5. Following the termination of a proposed merger of iron titanium subsidiary IronRidge Resources Ltd 

with TSX.V listed Coltstar Ventures Inc. management moved forward with plans for IronRidge 

Resources Ltd (formerly Ridge Exploration Pty Ltd) to complete an IPO and list on the ASX in FY 2012. 

Mr Stephen Everett has taken up the position of Executive Chairman pending the appointment of a 

CEO. 

6. Porphyry copper gold silver molybdenum subsidiary Archer Resources Ltd (formerly Anduramba 

Molybdenum Pty Ltd) acquired subsidiary Barlyne Mining Pty Ltd and completed a $2 million seed 

capital raising following the appointment of Dr. Matthew White as CEO. Seven major projects 

advanced ahead of a proposed $6 million IPO and ASX listing planned for FY 2012. 

7. New projects under development include applications for exploration permits targeting gold, silver, 

uranium, rare earths, tin, antimony, coal and bauxite. 
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REVIEW OF UNLISTED SUBSIDIARIES AND PROJECTS 
 
Armour Energy Ltd  
 
Armour Energy is D‟Aguilar Gold‟s energy focused subsidiary dedicated to the discovery and development of 
world class gas resources in an extensive new province in Northern Australia (see Figure 2). The company CEO 
is Mr Phil McNamara, a mining engineer who was formerly Managing Director of Waratah Coal and a Director of 
Mr Clive Palmer‟s Resource House. He has a long and successful history in large-scale resource projects and 
infrastructure development planning and approval progression. 

 

 

Figure 2: Armour Energy Tenements 

 

Armour has over 130,000 km2 under gas tenure application in the Northern Territory and Queensland, an area 
equivalent to the size of the United Kingdom. D‟Aguilar Gold holds 50% of Armour Energy following a $14 
million seed capital raising. 

 

Within the Northern Territory Exploration License areas Armour has identified a core target area located 
within and adjacent to the fault bounded structure known as the Batten Trough as shown in Figure 3. The 
target sediments are the thickened sections of the gas rich Barney Creek Shale which has scope to host up to 
40 TCF of gas.  
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Figure 3: Batten Trough Area, Northern Territory 

 

Previous exploration drilling for zinc encountered numerous shows of gas condensate, oil and bitumen, 
including a 140psi gas blowout which flowed for 6 months before being plugged (Figure 4). 

 

 

 

Figure 4: Glyde Gas Blow-out 1979 

The area is also prospective for large shale gas resources which are expected to be comparable to shale gas 
resources contained within known shale gas basins in the USA. Shale gas technology developed in the USA and 
commercially applied by a number of companies and operators in Texas, Wyoming, Oklahoma, Louisiana, 
Arkansas, North Dakota as well as Saskatchewan and British Columbia in Canada will be applied in the 
exploration of the area.  
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The geology of the target area demonstrates extensive target shale units with total organic carbon content, 
thermal maturity levels and thicknesses presenting comparable targets to the producing Haynesville, Barnett, 
Marcellus and Bakken Shales that are currently yielding high volume gas production in the USA. 

 

Shale gas development and production relies on the release of gas from artificially fractured low permeability 
gas bearing shales which are penetrated by radiating horizontal lateral holes drilled off a vertical centre well.  

 The target shales are “dry” (not aquifers) and do not interact with groundwater. Armour‟s well depths are 
targeted at between 500 and 1500 metres within the project area. 

 

Northern Territory tenement access negotiations with traditional land owners have been completed on the 
first two exploration application areas covering the Batten Trough and the Northern Territory Government has 
now granted EP171 and EP176. 

 

Armour Energy has applied for the “South Nicholson” ATP in North West Queensland. This exploration 
tenement abuts Armour‟s Northern Territory tenements and is seen as highly prospective for significant shale 
gas resources. 

 

Like the Armour tenement area in the Northern Territory, the South Nicholson area was lightly explored by 
other companies in the late 1970s and early 1980s for major oil accumulations. At this time there was no 
significant gas demand, and gas was ignored or overlooked in exploration. However the area has abundant gas 
and oil source rocks. This is clearly evident in revisiting the drill well logs from former oil exploration wells in 
the South Nicholson area. As shown in Figure 5, drill logs from the historic “Egilabria 1” and “Beamesbrook 1” 
oil exploration wells drilled almost 30 km apart show remarkable continuity of high gas contents in the Lawn 
Hill Formation. 

 

Armour Energy is currently planning an $75.0 million capital raising and ASX listing in late 2011. 

 

 

 Figure 5: High gas contents in Lawn Hill Formation indicate high gas potential in Queensland areas 
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Archer Resources Ltd 
 

Archer Resources is focused on the discovery and development of porphyry copper gold silver molybdenum 
deposits in south east Queensland and New South Wales and after an $2.0 million seed raising is a 67% owned 
subsidiary of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd. Archer Resources is led by Dr. Matthew White who was appointed CEO of the 
company with effect from 4 April 2011. Dr. White has over 16 years‟ experience in the minerals exploration 
and mining industry. He joins Archer Resources after 4 years as Chief Geologist with the innovative offshore 
minerals explorer Nautilus Minerals, where he played a major role in the discovery of more than 20 poly-
metallic seafloor massive sulphide systems in the southwest Pacific. Prior to this Dr. White ran a successful 
consultancy business generating projects and designing mineral exploration programs for major international 
resource companies. 

 

Archer has six key project areas in south east Queensland –Gayndah and Calgoa (which already host 
encouraging drill intersections), Peenam, Great Blackall and Pinnacles (adjacent to the recent Aussie Q 
Resources discoveries at Whitewash and Gordons), and Anduramba. The location of these exploration 
tenements is shown in Figure 6.  

 

Figure 6: Location of Archer Resources Queensland Tenements 

 

Archer also has a project in New South Wales – Bathurst, which contains a shallow (non-JORC) gold resource at 
the Caloola Prospects of 235,000t @ 2.59 g/t Au.  This gold system is open at depth below 60 metres.  The gold 
mineralisation is similar to Newmont‟s nearby McPhillamys Gold Deposit containing approximately 3 million oz 
Au.  Deeper drilling is planned. 
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Figure 7: Silver-Copper-Lead rich rock sample from the Rossmore Silver Prospect 

 

The Company is reviewing a number of other porphyry copper gold molybdenum systems in Queensland. 

Archer Resources has commenced preparation of a Prospectus ahead of a planned $6.0 million capital raising 
and ASX listing in FY2012. 

  
IronRidge Resources Ltd 
 
IronRidge Resources Ltd is the new name for Ridge Exploration as the company further progresses its plans for 
an ASX Listing. IronRidge holds exploration licenses for iron and titanium ores over parts of the northern Surat 
Basin where previous work has identified iron ore development with over 40% iron content in lateritised 
profiles and surface sampling has obtained TiO2 up to 31%. 

 

D‟Aguilar has appointed Mr Stephen Everett as Executive Chairman of IronRidge Resources. Mr Everett, a 
chemical engineer, has a 35 year career in Management and Board positions in the resources and construction 
sector. He is former Managing Director of BeMax Resources and current Chairman of Global Resources Corp 
Ltd. 

 

While over the past 40 years the mining industry has concentrated on the exploitation of haematite ores 
grading better than 55% iron it has been overlooked that a grading of 35+% was the accepted standard of the 
iron and steel industry. Given that IronRidge target areas are situated next to massive coal and gas reserves 
(owned by unrelated third parties) and the current high price of iron ore, lower grades of iron ore should be 
able to offer economic potential. Initial field work has already identified extensive deposits of iron rich 
material with many assays >40% Fe and < 0.04% P2O5 (phosphorus) The largest iron deposit identified lies on the 
eastern edge of the Basin approximately 100kms South West of Mundubbera, called Cadarga where mapping 
and sampling work has led to the discovery of high grade Titanium Dioxides (to 31% TiO2) around an 
interpreted basaltic volcanic centre near the town of Monogorilby. The deposit is flat lying within a lateritised 
volcanic breccia and covers about 6km2 around a diatreme style of volcanic vent. Figure 8 shows the location 
of IronRidge‟s Qld tenements. 

 

  



 
   

D‟Aguilar Gold Limited annual report for the year ended 30 June 2011 13 

 

 

Figure 8: IronRidge Resources Queensland Tenements 

 

D‟Aguilar has continued to fund the ongoing exploration work on the IronRidge tenements and, with the 
current buoyancy of the global iron ore market, the Directors have committed to a capital raising and ASX 
listing of IronRidge in FY2012. A committed offer to underwrite $6.0 million of the IronRidge capital raising has 
been received.  

 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 
 
D‟Aguilar Gold aims to hold its key positions in the listed resource companies that it has created as the 
companies mature and develop.  
 
This review has outlined three unlisted subsidiaries that are prepared for listing within the next year which 
will bring the number of new companies created to seven. 
 
New projects under development that may form the basis for new unlisted subsidiaries to proceed to 
independent listing include applications for exploration permits targeting gold, silver, uranium, rare earths, 
tin, antimony, coal and bauxite. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
Your directors submit their report for the year ended 30 June 2011. 
 
DIRECTORS 
 
The names and details of the Company‟s directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this 
report are as follows.  Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated. 
 
William (Bill) Stubbs 
Nicholas Mather 
Brian Moller 
Vince Mascolo 

 
William (Bill) Stubbs – Non-Executive Chairman 
LLB 

Mr Stubbs is a lawyer of 35 years‟ experience and has previously worked with D‟Aguilar Gold CEO Nick Mather 
on the Boards of numerous emerging globally significant resource companies.  He was the co-founder of the 
legal firm Stubbs Barbeler and has practiced extensively in the area of Commercial Law including Stock 
Exchange listings and all areas of mining law.  

Mr Stubbs has held the position of Director of various public companies over the past 25 years in the mineral 
exploration and biotech fields.  He is also the former Chairman of Alchemia Ltd, and Bemax Resources NL 
which discovered and developed extensive mineral sands resources in the Murray Basin.  He was the founding 
Chairman of Arrow Energy NL which originally pioneered coal seam gas development in Queensland‟s Bowen 
and Surat Basins from 1998, and is now a world-wide coal seam gas company. 

During the past three years Mr Stubbs has also served as a director of the following listed and public 
companies: 

 Stradbroke Ferries Ltd 
 Lodestone Energy Ltd 

 
Mr Stubbs is a member of the Audit and Risk Committee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 
 
Nicholas Mather – Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 
BSc (Hons, Geol) (Univ. QLD), MAusIMM 

Mr Mather has 29 years‟ experience in exploration and resource company management. His career has taken 
him to a variety of countries exploring for precious and base metals and fossil fuels.  He has focused his 
attention on the identification of and investment in large resource exploration projects.  

Mr Mather was Managing Director of BeMaX Resources NL and instrumental in the discovery of the world class 
Gingko mineral sand deposit in the Murray Basin in 1998. As an Executive Director of Arrow Energy NL, Mr 
Mather drove the acquisition and business development of Arrow‟s large Surat Basin Coal Bed Methane project 
in South East Queensland. He was Managing Director of Auralia Resources NL, a junior gold explorer before its 
$23 million merger with Ross Mining NL in 1995.  He was also a Non-Executive Director of Ballarat Goldfields 
NL, having assisted that company in its re-emergence as a significant emerging gold producer. 

During the past three years Mr Mather has also served as a director of the following listed companies: 
 Mt Isa Metals Ltd 
 AusNiCo Ltd 
 Navaho Gold Ltd 
 Bow Energy Ltd 
 Solomon Gold plc, which is listed on the London Stock Exchange (AIM) 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 

Brian Moller – Non Executive Director 
LLB (Hons) 

Brian Moller is a corporate partner in the Brisbane based law firm Hopgood Ganim. He was admitted as a 
solicitor in 1981 and has been a partner since 1983. He practices almost exclusively in the corporate area with 
an emphasis on capital raising, mergers and acquisitions. 

He holds an LLB Hons from the University of Queensland and is a member of the Australian Mining and 
Petroleum Law Association. 

Mr Moller acts for many public listed resource and industrial companies and brings a wealth of experience and 
expertise to the board particularly in the corporate regulatory and governance areas.  During the past three 
years Mr Moller has also served as a director of the following listed companies: 

 AusNiCo Ltd 
 Platina Resources Ltd 
 Navaho Gold Ltd 
 Solomon Gold plc, which listed on the London Stock Exchange (AIM) 

 
Mr Moller is a member of the Audit and Risk Committee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 
 

Vincent Mascolo – Non Executive Director 
BEng Mining, MAusIMM, MEI Aust 

Mr Mascolo is a qualified mining engineer with extensive experience in a variety of fields including, gold and 
coal mining, quarrying, civil-works, bridge-works, water and sewage treatment and estimating. 

Mr Mascolo has completed his assignment in the Civil and Construction Industry, including construction and 
project management, engineering, quality control and environment and safety management.  He is also a 
member of both the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and the Institute of Engineers of Australia. 
 
Mr Mascolo has not served as a director of any other listed companies in the last 3 years. 
 
Mr Mascolo is a member of the Audit and Risk Committee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 
 
As at the date of this report, the interest of the directors in the shares and options of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd were: 
 
 Number of ordinary shares Number of options over ordinary 

shares 

William (Bill) Stubbs 756,818 3,500,000 

Nicholas Mather 45,516,662 6,500,000 

Brian Moller 1,301,909 3,500,000 

Vince Mascolo 2,546,207 2,500,000 

 
COMPANY SECRETARY 
 
Karl Schlobohm – Company Secretary 
B.Comm, B.Econ, M.Tax, CA, AICD 

Karl Schlobohm is a Chartered Accountant with over 20 years‟ experience across a wide range of industries and 
businesses.  He has extensive experience with financial accounting, corporate governance, company 
secretarial duties and board reporting.  Over the past 5 years, Mr Schlobohm has contracted into roles as CFO 
and/or Company Secretary for a number of ASX-listed resource companies including Linc Energy, Discovery 
Metals and Meridian Minerals.  

He currently acts as the Company Secretary for ASX-listed Navaho Gold Ltd, AusNiCo Ltd and LSE (AIM)-listed 
Solomon Gold Plc. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activity of the Group during the financial year was mineral exploration. There were no 
significant changes in the nature of the Group‟s principal activities during the financial year. 

 
DIVIDENDS PAID OR RECOMMENDED 

There were no dividends paid or recommended during or since the financial year. 

 
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

Detailed comments on operations and exploration programs up to the date of this report are included 
separately in the Annual Report under Review of Operations and Future Developments. 

 
REVIEW OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 

 
Capital structure 

 
Ordinary Shares 

On 1 December 2010, 200,000 ordinary shares were issued at a price of $0.125 in satisfaction of an Executive 
bonus. 

On 30 April 2011, 2,000,000 ordinary shares were issued (1,000,000 issued at $0.09 and 1,000,000 issued at 
$0.12) on the exercise of share options. 

 
Options 
 
There were 28,000,000 share options issued by D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd to Directors and employees during the year 
(2010: nil). 
 
Position at 30 June 2011 and Position at the date of this Report 
 
At 30 June 2011, the Company had 324,202,760 ordinary shares, 16,000,000 unlisted options (28 cents @ 24 
November 2013), and 12,000,000 unlisted options (28 cents @ 28 February 2014) on issue. 
 
Financial position 

The net assets of the Group have increased by $22,873,631 to $46,072,919 as at 30 June 2011 from 
$23,199,288 as at 30 June 2010.  This increase has largely resulted from the following factors: 

 A gain booked on the deconsolidation of Navaho Gold Ltd; 

 An increase in the carrying value of the Group‟s investment holding in the London AIM-listed Solomon 
Gold plc; 

 Proceeds from share issue raisings which has largely been directed on the Group‟s (capitalised) 
exploration expenditure, partly offset by; 

 An impairment charge recorded on the carrying value of the Group‟s investment in Navaho; and 

 Operating losses. 

During the past year the Group has continued investing in its mineral exploration tenements. 

 
Treasury policy 
 
The Group does not have a formally established treasury function.  The Board is responsible for managing the 
Group‟s currency risks and finance facilities.  The Group does not currently undertake hedging of any kind. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
Liquidity and funding 
 

The Group has sufficient funds to finance its operations and to allow the Group to take advantage of 
favourable business opportunities, not specifically budgeted for, or to fund unforeseen expenditure. 

 
OPERATING RESULTS 
 

For the year ended 30 June 2011, the Group loss after income tax was $4,800,268 (2010: profit of $3,598,343). 

 
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 
 

In the opinion of the Directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that 
occurred during the financial year under review not otherwise disclosed in this report or the financial 
statements of the Group for the financial year. 

 
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE 
 

On 1 September 2011, the Company transferred 3,400,000 shares it owned in IronRidge Resources Ltd to the 
original seed investors resulting in the Company‟s shareholding being reduced to 46,600,000 ordinary shares 
(80%). 
 
On 14 September 2011, AusNiCo Ltd announced a capital raising of $1.4 million through a combination of an 
$800,000 private placement and a share purchase plan underwritten to $600,000.  The private placement of 
$800,000 was successfully completed and the respective shares allotted on 20 September 2011.  
 
The Directors are not aware of any other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group or events after 
the balance date that would have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 
 

Likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of those operations in subsequent 
financial years have been discussed where appropriate in the Annual Report under Review of Operations and 
Future Developments. 
 
There are no further developments of which the Directors are aware which could be expected to affect the 
results of the Group‟s operations in subsequent financial years other than information which the Directors 
believe comment on or disclosure of, would prejudice the interests of the Group.  

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE 
 

The Group is subject to environmental regulation in relation to its exploration activities.  The Group has 
conducted an extensive review of the environmental status of the Mining Leases and has estimated the 
potential costs for future rehabilitation and restoration to be $600,000. There are no matters that have arisen 
in relation to environmental issues up to the date of this report.   

 
REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

 
Remuneration policy  
 

The performance of the Company depends upon the quality of its Directors and Executives.  To prosper, the 
Company must attract, motivate and retain highly skilled Directors and Executives. 
 
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for determining and 
reviewing compensation arrangements for the Directors and the Executive team.  The Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of such 
officers on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective 
of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and Executive team.  Such 
officers are given the opportunity to receive their base remuneration in a variety of forms including cash and 
fringe benefits. It is intended that the manner of payments chosen will be optimal for the recipient without 
creating undue cost for the Company.  Further details on the remuneration of Directors and Executives are set 
out in this Remuneration Report. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) (continued) 
 
The Company aims to reward the Executive Director and Senior Management with a level and mix of 
remuneration commensurate with their position and responsibilities within the Company.  The Board‟s policy is 
to align Director and Executive objectives with shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed 
remuneration component and offering long-term incentives. 
 
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of Non-Executive Director and Executive 
Director and Senior Management remuneration is separate and distinct. 
 
Non-Executive Director Remuneration 

 
The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level which provides the Company with the ability to 
attract and retain Directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost which is acceptable to shareholders. 
The Company‟s specific policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration of Board members of 
the Company is as follows: 
 
The Constitution of the Company provides that the Non-Executive Directors are entitled to remuneration as 
determined by the Company in general meeting to be apportioned among them in such manner as the 
Directors agree and, in default of agreement, equally.  The aggregate remuneration currently determined by 
the Company is $350,000 per annum.  Additionally, Non-Executive Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for 
properly incurred expenses. 
 
If a Non-Executive Director performs extra services, which in the opinion of the Directors are outside the scope 
of the ordinary duties of the Director, the Company may remunerate that Director by payment of a fixed sum 
determined by the Directors in addition to or instead of the remuneration referred to above.  However, no 
payment can be made if the effect would be to exceed the maximum aggregate amount payable to Non-
Executive Directors.  A Non-Executive Director is entitled to be paid travelling and other expenses properly 
incurred by them in attending Director's or general meetings of the Company or otherwise in connection with 
the business of the Company. 
 
The remuneration of any Executive Director may from time to time be fixed by the Directors.  The 
remuneration may be by way of salary or commission or participation in profits but may not be by commission 
on, or a percentage of, operating revenue.   
 
All Directors have the opportunity to qualify for participation in the Directors‟ and Executive Officers‟ option 
plan, subject to the approval of shareholders. 
 
The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors for the year ended 30 June 2011 is detailed in this Remuneration 
Report. 

 
Executive Director and Senior Management Remuneration 

 
The Company aims to reward the Executive Director and Senior Management with a level and mix of 
remuneration commensurate with their position and responsibilities within the Company and so as to: 
 

 reward Executives for company and individual performance against targets set by reference to 
appropriate benchmarks; 

 align the interests of Executives with those of shareholders; 

 link reward with the strategic goals and performance of the Company; and 

 ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards. 

 
The remuneration of the Executive Director and Senior Management may from time to time be fixed by the 
Board.  The remuneration will comprise a fixed remuneration component and also may include offering 
specific short and long-term incentives, in the form of: 
 

 performance based salary increases and/or bonuses; and/or  

 the issue of options. 
 
All Directors and Executives have the opportunity to qualify for participation in the Directors‟ and Executive 
Officers‟ Option Plan, subject to the approval of shareholders. All employees have the opportunity to qualify 
for participation in the D‟Aguilar Employee Share Option Plan. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) (continued) 
 
The remuneration of the Executive Director and Senior Management for the year ended 30 June 2011 is 
detailed in this Remuneration Report. 
 
Relationship between remuneration and Company performance 

 
During the financial year, the Company (and its subsidiaries) has generated losses as its principal activity was 
mineral exploration. 
 
The Company listed on the ASX on 21 August 2003.  The following table shows the share price at the end of the 
financial year for the Company for the last five (5) years: 
 
 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 
 
Share price at year end 

 
$0.40 

 
$0.13 

 
$0.04 

 
$0.04 

 
$0.10 

 
During the year ended 30 June 2011 the market price of the Company‟s ordinary shares ranged from a low of 
$0.04 to a high of $0.22. 
 
There were no dividends paid during the 5 year period. 
 
As the Company is still in the exploration and development stage, the link between remuneration, company 
performance and shareholder wealth is tenuous.  Share prices are subject to the influence of metals prices and 
market sentiment toward the sector, and as such increases or decreases may occur quite independent of 
Executive performance or remuneration. 

 
Employment contracts 

 
It is the Board‟s policy that employment agreements are entered into with all Executive Directors, Executives 
and employees.  Contracts do not provide for pre-determining compensation values or method of payment.  
Rather the amount of compensation is determined by the Board in accordance with the remuneration policy 
set out above. 
 
The current employment agreements with the Managing Directors of D‟Aguilar, Navaho Gold, AusNiCo and 
Barlyne Mining have a notice period of three (3) months.  All other Executive employment agreements have a 
one month notice period.  No current employment contracts contain early termination clauses.  The terms of 
appointment for Non-Executive Directors are set out in letters of appointment. 
 
Key Management Personnel are entitled to their statutory entitlements of accrued annual leave and long 
service leave together with any superannuation on termination.  No other termination payments are payable. 
 
Managing Director, D’Aguilar 
 
D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd has an agreement with Samuel Capital Ltd, an entity associated with Nicholas Mather (a 
Director), and Nicholas Mather for the provision of certain consultancy services.  Samuel Capital Ltd will 
provide Nicholas Mather as the managing Director of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd for a base fee of $199,413 per annum. 
 
Under the terms of the present contract: 
 

 Both D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd and Samuel Capital Ltd are entitled to terminate the contract upon giving three 
(3) months written notice; 

 D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd is entitled to terminate the agreement upon the happening of various events in 
respect of Samuel Capital Ltd‟s solvency or other conduct or if Nicholas Mather ceases to be a Director of 
D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd; 

 The contract provides for a six monthly review of performance by D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd. 
 
There is no termination payment provided for in the Executive Service Contract with Samuel Capital Pty Ltd. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) (continued) 
 
Senior Management 
 
Employment contracts entered into with senior management contain the following key terms: 
 

Event Company Policy 

Performance based salary increases and/or bonuses Board discretion 

Short and long-term incentives, such as options Board discretion 

Resignation/ notice period 1 – 3 months 

Serious misconduct Company may terminate at any time 

Payouts upon resignation or termination, outside industrial regulations 
(i.e. „golden handshakes‟) 

None 

 
Details of Key Management Personnel and Group Executives 
 
(i) Directors 
 
Bill Stubbs 
Nicholas Mather  
Brian Moller  
Vincent Mascolo 
Ian Levy – resigned 25 November 2009 

 
 (ii)  Other Key Management Personnel 
 
The following persons were Executives of the Company: 
 
Greg Runge General Manager 
Karl Schlobohm Company Secretary 
Neil Wilkins Exploration Manager 
Priy Jayasuriya Chief Financial Officer (appointed 22 November 2010) 
Carlie Rogers Business Development Executive (appointed 13 September 2010) 
 
(iii) Group Executives 
 
The following persons were Executives of the Group: 
 
Phil McNamara Chief Executive Officer, Armour Energy Ltd (appointed 7 July 2010) 
John Downie Chief Executive Officer, AusNiCo Ltd (appointed 21 October 2010) 
Mark Dugmore Chief Executive Officer, Navaho Gold Ltd (appointed 28 April 2010) 
Matthew White Chief Executive Officer, Archer Resources Ltd (appointed 4 April 2011) 
John Roiko Exploration Manager, AusNiCo Ltd (appointed 15 January 2010) 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) (continued) 
 
Remuneration Details 
 
Remuneration of Key Management Personnel (including remuneration from controlled entities) 
 
Directors Short term benefits Post-

employment 
Share based 
payments 

Equity settled 

Total % 
Consisting 
of options 

 Salary & 
fees 

Other Superannuation Options Shares   

 $ $ $ $ $ $  

Bill Stubbs1        
- 2011 51,772 7,940 - 229,289 - 289,001 79% 
- 2010 29,795 4,204 - - - 33,999 - 

Nicholas Mather        
- 2011 327,285 15,740 - 432,786 - 775,811 56% 
- 2010 199,413 7,208 - - - 206,621 - 

Brian Moller        
- 2011 74,726 7,940 - 229,289 - 311,955 74% 
- 2010 40,000 7,208 - - - 47,208 - 

Vince Mascolo        
- 2011 140,000 7,940 - 165,520 - 313,460 53% 
- 2010 40,000 7,208 - - - 47,208 - 

Ian Levy2        
- 2011 - - - - - - - 
- 2010 20,833 3,004 - - - 23,837 - 

Total 
remuneration 

       

- 2011 593,783 39,560 - 1,056,884 - 1,690,227  
- 2010 330,041 28,832 - - - 358,873  

 
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel 

Short term benefits Post-
employment 

Share based 
payments 

Equity settled 

Total % 
Consisting 
of options 

 Salary & 
fees 

Other Superannuation Options Shares   

 $ $ $ $ $ $  

Greg Runge        
- 2011 171,489 7,800 15,434 111,814 - 306,537 36% 
- 2010 165,138 10,015 14,862 - - 190,015 - 

Karl Schlobohm        
- 2011 174,583 15,740 - 288,771 25,000 504,094 57% 
- 2010 91,903 7,208 - 36,732 25,000 160,843 23% 

Neil Wilkins        
- 2011 18,200 - - 111,814 - 130,014 86% 
- 2010 77,000 - - - - 77,000 - 

Priy Jayasuriya3        
- 2011 112,209 2,370 10,099 111,814 - 236,492 47% 
- 2010 - - - - - - - 

Carlie Rogers4        
- 2011 98,800 2,866 8,892 229,724 - 340,282 68% 
- 2010 - - - - - - - 

Total 
remuneration 

       

- 2011 575,281 28,776 34,425 853,937 25,000 1,517,419  
- 2010 334,041 17,223 14,862 36,732 25,000 427,858  

 
1 Mr Bill Stubbs was appointed as a Non-Executive Director and Chairman on 26 November 2009. 
2 Mr Ian Levy resigned on 25 November 2009 
3 Mr Priy Jayasuriya was appointed as Chief Financial Officer on 22 November 2010. 
4 Ms Carlie Rogers was appointed as the Business Development Executive on 13 September 2010. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) (continued) 
 
Remuneration of Group Executives 
 

Group Executives Short term benefits Post-
employment 

Share based 
payments 

Equity settled 

Total % 
Consisting 
of options 

 Salary & 
fees 

Other Superannuation Options Shares   

 $ $ $ $ $ $  

Phil McNamara1        
- 2011 380,361 - 15,199 84,119 - 479,679 18% 
- 2010 - - - - - - - 

John Downie2        
- 2011 177,519 - 28,538 265,151 - 471,208 56% 
- 2010 - - - - - - - 

Mark Dugmore3        
- 2011 144,251 - 12,334 145,000 - 301,585 48% 
- 2010 24,136 - 2,172 - - 26,308 - 

Matthew White4        
- 2011 40,649 - 3,659 166,230 - 210,538 79% 
- 2010 - - - - - - - 

John Roiko5        
- 2011 136,266 - 12,264 21,212 - 169,742 12% 
- 2010 50,459 - 4,541 - - 55,000 - 

Total 
remuneration 

       

- 2011 879,046 - 71,994 681,712 - 1,632,752  
- 2010 74,595 - 6,713 - - 81,308  

 
1 Mr Phil McNamara was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of Armour Energy Ltd on 7 July 2010. 
2 Mr John Downie was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of AusNiCo Ltd on 21 October 2010. 
3 Mr Mark Dugmore was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of Navaho Gold Ltd on 28 April 2010. 
4 Dr Matthew White was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of Archer Resources Ltd on 4 April 2011. 
5 Mr John Roiko was appointed as Exploration Manager of AusNiCo Ltd on 15 January 2010. 
 
Performance income as a proportion of total remuneration 
 

Performance based bonuses are paid on set monetary figures, rather than proportions of salaries.  The 
remuneration committee has set these bonuses to encourage achievement of specific goals that have been 
given a high level of importance in relation to the future growth of the consolidated Group. 
 
The remuneration committee will review the performance bonuses to gauge their effectiveness against 
achievement of the set goals, and adjust future years‟ incentives as they see fit, to ensure the most cost 
effective and efficient methods. 
 
Two bonus payments totaling $50,000 was paid during the year ended 30 June 2011 (2010: $25,000). 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) (continued) 
 
Options issued as part of remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Options are not issued based on performance criteria, as the Board does not consider this appropriate for a 
junior exploration company.  Options are issued to the majority of key management personnel and executives 
to align comparative shareholder return and reward for Directors and executives. 
 
Options granted as remuneration 
 
Details of options granted as remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2011 for key management personnel 
and Group executives are given below: 
 

D’Aguilar Gold Ltd 
 

Name Grant 
date 

Grant 
number 

Exercise 
price 

Expiry 
date 

Vest 
date 

Number 
vested 

% 
Vested 

Value per 
option at 

grant date 
Bill Stubbs 24/11/10 3,500,000 $0.28 24/11/13 24/11/10 3,500,000 100% $0.0638 

Nicholas Mather 24/11/10 6,500,000 $0.28 24/11/13 24/11/10 6,500,000 100% $0.0638 

Brian Moller 24/11/10 3,500,000 $0.28 24/11/13 24/11/10 3,500,000 100% $0.0638 

Vince Mascolo 24/11/10 2,500,000 $0.28 24/11/13 24/11/10 2,500,000 100% $0.0638 

Greg Runge 28/02/11 1,250,000 $0.28 28/02/14 28/02/11 1,250,000 100% $0.0895 

Karl Schlobohm 28/02/11 2,500,000 $0.28 28/02/14 28/02/11 2,500,000 100% $0.0895 

Neil Wilkins 28/02/11 1,250,000 $0.28 28/02/14 28/02/11 1,250,000 100% $0.0895 

Priy Jayasuriya 28/02/11 1,250,000 $0.28 28/02/14 28/02/11 1,250,000 100% $0.0895 

Carlie Rogers 28/02/11 2,500,000 $0.28 28/02/14 28/02/11 2,500,000 100% $0.0895 
 

AusNiCo Ltd 
 

Name Grant 
date 

Grant 
number 

Exercise 
price 

Expiry 
date 

Vest 
date 

Number 
vested 

% 
Vested 

Value per 
option at 

grant date 

John Downie 1/09/10 2,500,000 $0.20 31/07/12 1/09/10 2,500,000 100% $0.1060 

John Roiko 1/09/10 200,000 $0.20 31/07/12 1/09/10 200,000 100% $0.1060 

Karl Schlobohm 1/09/10 400,000 $0.20 31/07/12 1/09/10 400,000 100% $0.1060 
 

Armour Energy Ltd 
 

Name Grant 
date 

Grant 
number 

Exercise 
price 

Expiry 
date 

Vest 
date 

Number 
vested 

% 
Vested 

Value per 
option at 

grant date 
N Mather 29/11/10 1,500,000 $0.50 31/08/14 29/11/10 1,500,000 100% $0.0120 

W Stubbs 29/11/10 500,000 $0.50 31/08/14 29/11/10 500,000 100% $0.0120 

B Moller 29/11/10 500,000 $0.50 31/08/14 29/11/10 500,000 100% $0.0120 

V Mascolo 29/11/10 500,000 $0.50 31/08/14 29/11/10 500,000 100% $0.0120 

P McNamara 29/11/10 6,900,000 $0.50 31/08/14 29/11/10 6,900,000 100% $0.0120 

C Rogers 29/11/10 500,000 $0.50 31/08/14 29/11/10 500,000 100% $0.0120 

K Schlobohm 29/11/10 500,000 $0.50 31/08/14 29/11/10 500,000 100% $0.0120 

 
Archer Resources Ltd 
 

 Grant date Grant 
number 

Exercise 
price 

Expiry 
date 

Vest 
date 

Number 
vested 

% 
vested 

Value per 
option at 

grant date 
M White 30/6/11 3,000,000 $0.20 31/12/14 30/6/11 3,000,000 100% $0.0554 

C Rogers 30/6/11 300,000 $0.20 31/12/14 30/6/11 300,000 100% $0.0554 

K Schlobohm 30/6/11 300,000 $0.20 31/12/14 30/6/11 300,000 100% $0.0554 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) (continued) 
 
Navaho Gold Ltd 
 

 Grant date Grant 
number 

Exercise 
price 

Expiry 
date 

Vest 
date 

Number 
vested 

% 
vested 

Value per 
option at 

grant date 
N Mather 9/9/10 750,000 $0.20 31/12/12 9/9/10 750,000 100% $0.1160 

B Moller 9/9/10 500,000 $0.20 31/12/12 9/9/10 500,000 100% $0.1160 

K Schlobohm 9/9/10 500,000 $0.20 31/12/12 9/9/10 500,000 100% $0.1160 

M Dugmore 9/9/10 1,250,000 $0.20 31/12/12 9/9/10 1,250,000 100% $0.1160 

 
The fair value of options granted has been calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which 
takes into account factors such as the option exercise price, the market price at the date of issue and 
volatility of the underlying share price and the time to maturity of the option.   
 

All options entitle the holder to one share in the each relevant named company for each option exercised. 
 

Once vested, options can be exercised at any time up to the expiry date.  A total of 4,000,000 options lapsed 

prior to vesting during the year ended 30 June 2011.  No amount was paid or payable on the grant of options. 

Shares issued on exercise of remuneration options 
 
There were 2,000,000 options exercised into ordinary shares of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd by Karl Schlobohm during 
the year that were previously granted as remuneration (for the 2010 financial year, no employee options were 
exercised) providing exercise proceeds of $210,000 (1,000,000 at $0.09 per ordinary share and 1,000,000 at 
$0.12 per ordinary share all fully paid) to the Company.  The intrinsic value of options exercised at the date of 
exercise was $110,000. 
 
The Board‟s current policy does not allow Directors and executives to limit their risk exposure in relation to 
equities or options without the approval of the Board. 
 
(End of Remuneration Report) 
 
DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 
 
The number of meetings of Directors held during the period and the number of meetings attended by each 
Director were as follows: 
 
 Board Audit & Risk Management 

Committee 
Remuneration & 

Nomination Committee 
 Number of 

meetings 
held while 
in office 

Meetings 
attended 

Number of 
meetings 

held while 
in office 

Meetings 
attended 

Number of 
meetings 

held while 
in office 

Meetings 
attended 

Nicholas Mather 8 8 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Bill Stubbs 8 8 2 2 - - 

Brian Moller 8 8 2 2 - - 

Vincent Mascolo 8 8 2 2 - - 

 
There was a total of 8 Board meetings and 2 audit and risk management committee meetings held during the 
financial year. 
 
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 
 
Each of the Directors and secretary of the Company has entered into a Deed with the Company whereby the 
Company has provided certain contractual rights of access to books and records of the Company to those 
Directors. The Company has insured all of the Directors of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd.  The contract of insurance 
prohibits the disclosure of the nature of the liabilities covered and amount of the premium paid. The 
Corporations Act does not require disclosure of the information in these circumstances. 
 
The Company has not indemnified or insured its auditor. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
OPTIONS 
 
At the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd under option are as follows: 
 

Grant date Date of Expiry Exercise Price Number under Option 
24 November 2010 24 November 2013 $0.28 16,000,000 
28 February 2011 28 February 2014 $0.28 12,000,000 
 

At the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of AusNiCo Ltd under option are as follows: 
 

Grant date Date of Expiry Exercise Price Number under Option 
5 December 2008 19 November 2013 $0.30 22,000,000 
1 September 2010 31 July 2012 $0.20 3,100,000 
21 October 2010 31 July 2012 $0.20 20,000,000 

 
At the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of Armour Energy Ltd under option are as follows: 
 

Grant date Date of Expiry Exercise Price Number under Option 
1 November 2010 31 August 2014 $0.50 20,000,000 
29 November 2010 31 August 2014 $0.50 10,900,000 
14 March 2011 31 August 2014 $0.50 12,500,000 
20 April 2011 31 August 2014 $0.50 5,000,000 

 
At the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of Archer Resources Ltd under option are as follows: 
 

Grant date Date of Expiry Exercise Price Number under Option 
15 December 2010 31 December 2014 $0.20 15,000,000 
30 June 2011 31 December 2014 $0.20 4,500,000 

 
No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of the Company or any 
other entity. 
 
There were 2,000,000 options exercised into ordinary shares of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd providing exercise proceeds 
of $210,000 (1,000,000 at $0.09 per ordinary share and 1,000,000 at $0.12 per ordinary share all fully paid) to 
the Company. 
 
PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 
 
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purposes of taking responsibility on behalf of the 
Company for all or any part of those proceedings.  The Company was not a party to any such proceedings 
during the year. 
 
NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
 
The following non-audit services were provided by a related practice (BDO (QLD) Pty Ltd) of the entity‟s 
auditor BDO Audit (QLD) Pty Ltd.  The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is 
compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act.  The 
nature and scope of each type of non-audit service provided means that auditor independence was not 
compromised. 
 
BDO Audit (Qld) Pty Ltd received the following amounts for the provision of non-audit services: 
 

Tax services    $28,250 
Other assurance services $22,825 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 
In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the Directors of 
D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd support and have adhered to the principles of corporate governance.  The Company‟s 
corporate governance statement can be found on page 30. 

 
AUDITORS INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

 
The Auditor Independence Declaration forms part of the Directors Report and can be found on page 27. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Nicholas Mather 
Managing Director 
Brisbane 
Date: 30 September 2011 
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
 

Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this 
report is as follows.  The information is current as at 23 September 2011. 
 

(a) Distribution Schedule 
 

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares, and Unlisted Options 
 

 
Ordinary Shares 

 
 

Unlisted $0.28 options 
exercisable on or before 

24 November 2013 
 

Unlisted $0.28 options 
exercisable on or before 

28 February 2013 

 
Number 

of holders 
Number of 

shares 
 Number 

of holders 
Number of 

options 
 Number 

of 
holders 

Number of 
options 

1 – 1,000 206 18,976  - -  - - 

1,001 – 5,000 291 934,030  - -  - - 

5,001 – 10,000 325 2,833,646  - -  - - 

10,001 – 100,000 793 30,118,128  - -  - - 

100,001 and over 363 290,297,980  4 16,000,000  14 12,000,000 

Total 1,978 324,202,760  4 16,000,000  14 12,000,000 
 

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of shares is 503 (holding a total of 984,494 
ordinary shares). 
 
(b) Twenty Largest Holders 

 
The names of the twenty largest holders, in each class of quoted security in D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd are: 
 
Ordinary shares: 
 

1 N & J Mather <Mather Super Fund Account> 34,425,000  10.62% 

2 Tenstar Trading Ltd 33,921,543  10.46% 

3 Indium Investments Pty Ltd 16,000,000  4.94% 

4 Dr Leon Eugene Pretorius 9,595,454  2.96% 

5 BT Portfolio Services Limited <Warrell Holdings S/F Account> 9,450,000  2.91% 

6 
Morgan Stanley Australia Securities (Nominee) Pty Ltd <No 1 
Account> 7,960,845  2.34% 

7 Samuel Capital Pty Ltd 5,850,657  1.80% 

8 Gurravembi Investments Pty Ltd <The Gurravembi S/Fund Account> 5,000,000  1.54% 

9 Mr Robert Simeon Lord 5,000,000  1.54% 

10 Samuel Holdings Pty Ltd <The Samuel Discretionary Account> 4,485,666  1.38% 

11 Flaskas Bickle Pty Ltd <Flaskas Bickle Investment Account> 4,285,714  1.32% 

12 Wadley Bickle Pty Ltd <Wadley Bickle Investment Account> 4,285,714  1.32% 

13 UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 3,990,500  1.23% 

14 Mr Guy Lance Jones <BOQ Loan Account> 3,500,000  1.08% 

15 ABN Amro Clearing Sydney Nominees Pty Ltd <Custodian Account> 3,467,389  1.07% 

16 RL & NP Bray <RL & NP Bray S/Fund Account> 3,120,000  0.96% 

17 Laguna Bay Capital Pty Ltd 3,000,000  0.93% 

18 Pinegold Pty Ltd <Greg Runge S/F Account> 2,953,850  0.91% 

19 Mr Vincent David Mascolo 2,546,207  0.79% 

20 Fortunato Pty Ltd 2,491,072  0.77% 

 

 Top 20 165,329,611  50.87% 

 Total 324,202,760  100.00% 

* These shareholders have more than one shareholding and these shareholdings have been merged for the 
purposes of this table. 
  



 
   

D‟Aguilar Gold Limited annual report for the year ended 30 June 2011 29 

 

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION (continued) 
 
(c) Substantial shareholders 
 
The following parties are substantial shareholders in the Company: 
 
Name Number 

of Shares 
% 

Nicholas Mather* 44,761,323 19.11 

Tenstar Trading Limited 33,921,543 10.46 

 
* Includes indirect holdings 
 
(d) Voting rights 

 
All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction. 
 
 
(e) Restricted securities 
 
As at the date of this report, there were no restrictions over the Company‟s shares. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 
The Board of Directors of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company.  The 
Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd on behalf of the shareholders by 
whom they are elected and to whom they are accountable.  
 
D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd.‟s Corporate Governance Statement is structured with reference to the Australian Stock 
Exchange (“ASX”) Corporate Governance Council‟s (the “Council”) “Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations, 2nd Edition”, which are as follows: 
 
 Principle 1 Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
 Principle 2 Structure the Board to add value 
 Principle 3 Promote ethical and responsible decision making 
 Principle 4 Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
 Principle 5 Make timely and balanced disclosure 
 Principle 6  Respect the rights of shareholders 
 Principle 7 Recognize and manage risk 
 Principle 8 Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
 
A copy of the eight Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations can be found on the ASX‟s website. 
 
Any departures to the Council‟s best practice recommendations as at the date of this report, or throughout the 
year ended 30 June 2011, are set out below. 
 
Board 
 
The Board has adopted a formal Board charter that outlines the roles and responsibilities of Directors and 
senior Executives.  The Board Charter has been made publicly available on the Company‟s website. 
 
The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of Director held by each Director on office at the 
date of the Annual Report is included in the Director‟s Report. Corporate Governance Council 
Recommendation 2.1 requires a majority of the Board should be independent Directors. The Corporate 
Governance Council defines and independent Director as a Non-Executive Director who is not a member of 
management and who is free of any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with – or 
could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with – the independent exercise of their judgment. 
 
In the context of Director independence, “materiality” is considered from both the Company and the 
individual Director perspective.  The determination of materiality requires consideration of both quantitative 
and qualitative elements.  An item is presumed to be quantitatively immaterial if it is equal or less than 10% of 
the appropriate base amount.  It is presumed to be material (unless there is qualitative evidence to the 
contrary) if it is equal to or greater than 10% of the appropriate base amount.  Qualitative factors considered 
included whether a relationship is strategically important, the competitive landscape, the nature of the 
relationship and the contractual or other arrangements governing it and other factors which point to the 
actual ability of the Director in question to shape the direction of the Company‟s loyalty. 
 
Factors that may impact on a Director‟s independence are considered each time the Board meets. 
 
At the date of this report: 
 
In accordance with the Council‟s definition of independence above, and the materiality thresholds set, the 
following Directors are considered to be independent: 
 
Name   Position 
Bill Stubbs   Non-Executive Chairman 
Vince Mascolo  Non-Executive Director 
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In accordance with the Council‟s definition of independence above, and the materiality thresholds set, the 
following Directors are not considered to be independent: 
 

Name Position Reason for non-compliance 

Nicholas Mather Executive Director Mr Mather is employed by the Company in an Executive 
capacity 

Brian Moller Non-Executive Director Mr Moller is a principal of a material professional advisor to 
the Company 

 
For the whole of the current year, half of the Board were considered independent.  D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 
considers industry experience and specific expertise, as well as general corporate experience, to be important 
attributes of its Board members. The Directors noted above have been appointed to the Board of D‟Aguilar 
Gold due to their considerable industry and corporate experience.  
 
There are procedures in place, agreed by the Board, to enable Directors, in furtherance of their duties, to 
seek independent professional advice at the Company‟s expense. 
 
The term in office held by each Director in office at the date of this report is as follows: 
 
Name   Term in office 
Nicholas Mather  9 years, 11 months 
Bill Stubbs  1 year, 9 months 
Brian Moller  8 years, 1 month 
Vincent Mascolo  7 years, 7 months 
 
Trading Policy 
 
The Directors of the Company are subject to a number of restrictions in relation to them dealing in Shares of 
the Company, all of which are incorporated in a Trading Policy which is part of the Company‟s Corporate 
Governance Policies and Procedures. Directors can only deal in Shares in the Company during certain periods 
or in certain circumstances (e.g. a bonus issue), and then only after receiving written clearance for the 
intended transaction from the Chairman of the Board. 
 
Remuneration and Nomination Committees 
 
The Board has established a Remuneration and Nomination Committee to: 

 Discharge the Board‟s responsibilities in relation to remuneration of the Company‟s Executives; and 

 Determine the state of Director Nominees for election to the Board, to identify and recommend 
candidates to fill casual vacancies. 

 
For the whole of the year, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee comprised all three Non-Executive 
Directors. 
 
During the financial year there was no cause for the Remuneration and Nomination Committee to meet. 
 
Audit and Risk Management Committee 
 
The Board has established an Audit and Risk Management Committee, which operates under a charter 
approved by the Board. It is the Board‟s responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control framework 
exists within the entity.  This includes internal controls to deal with both the effectiveness and efficiency of 
significant business processes, the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, and 
the reliability of financial information as well as non-financial considerations such as the benchmarking of 
operational key performance indicators.  The Board has delegated the responsibility for the establishment and 
maintenance of a framework of internal control and ethical standards for the management of the Group to the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee. 
 
The Committee also provides the Board with additional assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
information for inclusion in the financial reports.  All members of the audit committee are Non-Executive 
Directors.   
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The members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee for the whole of the year, and to the date of this 
report are as follows: 
 

 Vincent Mascolo (chairman of Audit and Risk Management Committee) 

 Brian Moller 

 Bill Stubbs (from 26 November 2009) 

 Ian Levy (from 1 July 2009 to 25 November 2009) 
 
Recommendation 4.2 requires that the composition of audit committees comprise a majority of independent 
Directors and that the committee have at least three members. At all times during the year ended 30 June 
2011 and until the date of this report, the Company did not satisfy these requirements, as Mr Moller is 
technically not considered “independent” as outlined above.  The Board considers this matter immaterial to 
the conduct and good governance practices of the committee. 
 
For additional details of Directors‟ attendance at Board and Audit and Risk Management Committee meetings 
and to review the qualifications of the members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, please refer to 
the Directors‟ Report. 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Charter has been made publicly available on the Company‟s website. 
 
Risk Management 
 
The Company has developed a basic framework for risk management and internal compliance and control 
systems which cover organizational, financial and operational aspects of the Company‟s affairs.  Further detail 
of the Company‟s risk management policies can be found under the Role of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee available as part of the Company‟s Corporate Governance Policies (www.daguilar.com.au). 
 
Recommendation 7.2 requires that the Board disclose that management has reported to it as to the 
effectiveness of the Company‟s management of its material business risks.  Business risks are considered 
regularly by the Board and management.  A formal report as to the effectiveness of the management of the 
Company‟s material business risks has not been provided to the Board and is not considered necessary for the 
size and nature of the Company‟s current activities. 
 
As required by Recommendation 7.3, the Board has received assurances from the Managing Director and Chief 
Financial Officer that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act is 
founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that they system is operating 
effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 
 
Performance Evaluation 
 
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee considers remuneration and nomination issues annually and 
otherwise as required in conjunction with the regular meetings of the Board. 
 
The performance of the Board is considered at regular meetings of the Board.  No formal performance 
evaluation of the Directors was undertaken during the year ended 30 June 2011.   
 
Remuneration 
 
It is the Company‟s objective to provide maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality 
Board and Executive team by remunerating Director and key Executives fairly and appropriately with reference 
to relevant and employment market conditions.  To assist in achieving this objective, the Board links the 
nature and amount of Executive Director‟s and Officer‟s emoluments to the Company‟s financial and 
operations performance. The expected outcomes of the remuneration structure are: 
 

 Retention and Motivation of key Executives 

 Attraction of quality management to the Company 

 Performance incentives which allow Executives to share the rewards of the success of the Company. 
 
For details on the amount of remuneration and all monetary and non-monetary components for each of the 
five highest paid (non-Director) Executives during the year, and for all Directors, please refer to the 
Remuneration Report within the Directors‟ Report. In relation to the payment of bonuses, options and other 
incentive payments, discretion is exercised by the Board, having regard to the overall performance of the 
Company and the performance of the individual during the period. 
 
  

http://www.daguilar.com.au/
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There is no scheme to provide retirement benefits, other than statutory superannuation, to Non-Executive 
Directors. 
 
The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the Directors 
themselves, subject to the Company‟s constitution and prior shareholder approvals, and the Executive team. 
As noted above, the Board has established a Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 
 
Diversity Policy 
 
The recruitment and selection processes adopted by the Company ensure that staff and management are 
selected in a non-discriminatory manner based on merit. The Company also values diversity in the 
organization. In light of recent amendments to the ASX‟s Corporate Governance Principles the Company 
intends to develop and formalize its diversity policy, and set suitable diversity targets having regard to the 
nature of the Company‟s industry and overall business objectives. 
 
Other Information 
 
Further information relating to the Company‟s corporate governance practices and policies has been made 
publicly available on the Company‟s web site at: http://www.daguilar.com.au/corporate.html 
 
  

http://www.daguilar.com.au/corporate.html
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INTEREST IN TENEMENTS 
 
As at the date of this report, the Group has an interest in the following tenements. 
 

Tenure Type, Number and Name Current Holder 
Registered 
Interest of 
Holder (%) 

Date of Expiry 

EPM 14666 Anduramba Archer Resources Ltd 100 27-Oct- 2014 

MDL 376 Anduramba Archer Resources Ltd 100 30-Jun-2013 

EPMA 19188 Mt Chantry Archer Resources Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 19186 Retreat Archer Resources Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 19244 Pinnacles East Archer Resources Ltd 100 Under Application 

    

EP 171 Banner Range Armour Energy Ltd 100 28-June2016 

EP(A) 172 Nicholson Armour Energy Ltd 100 Under Application 

EP(A) 173 Robinson River Armour Energy Ltd 100 Under Application 

EP(A) 174 Robinson River 2 Armour Energy Ltd 100 Under Application 

EP 176 Ryan‟s Bend Armour Energy Ltd 100 28-Jun-2016 

EP(A) 177 Georgina Armour Energy Ltd 100 Under Application 

EP(A) 178 Frewin Armour Energy Ltd 100 Under Application 

EP(A) 179 Brunette Armour Energy Ltd 100 Under Application 

EP(A) 190 Calvert Armour Energy Ltd 100 Under Application 

EP(A) 191 Walhalla Armour Energy Ltd 100 Under Application 

EP(A) 192 Wollogorang Armour Energy Ltd 100 Under Application 

EP(A) 191 Borroloola Armour Energy Ltd 100 Under Application 

EP(A) 194 Quaker Creek Armour Energy Ltd 100 Under Application 

EP(A) 195 Fish River Armour Energy Ltd 100 Under Application 

EP(A) 196 Kangaroo Creek Armour Energy Ltd 100 Under Application 

ATP 1087 South Nicholson Armour Energy Ltd 100 Under Application 

    

EPM 13369 North Kilkivan AusNiCo Ltd 100 4-Jan-20111 

EPM 13360 East Kilkivan AusNiCo Ltd 100 6-Feb-20111  

EPM 14372 Tableland AusNiCo Ltd 100 24-Jan-2012 

EPM 14560 Mt. Kandanga AusNiCo Ltd 100 3-Sep-20101  

EPM 15457 Popperima Crk. AusNiCo Ltd 100 12-Jul-2011 

EPM 16077 Boyne River AusNiCo Ltd 100 11-Mar-2013 

EPM 17611 Green Rock AusNiCo Ltd 100 7-Jan-2014 

EPM 17721 Marlborough N. AusNiCo Ltd 100 6-Apr-20111  

EPM 17722 Princhester AusNiCo Ltd 100 7-Apr-20111  

EPMA 17768 Marlborough S. AusNiCo Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPM 17817 Mt. Slopea AusNiCo Ltd 100 20-Jan-2012 

EPM 18107 Kandanga Gap AusNiCo Ltd 100 6-Dec-2012 

EPMA 19030 Kettle Creek North AusNiCo Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 19057 Cloncurry River AusNiCo Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 19059 Charcoal Creek AusNiCo Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 19060 Gum Creek AusNiCo Ltd 100 Under Application 

EL 4165 Yandeminta 1 AusNiCo Ltd 100 29-Aug-2013 

ELA 4166 Brewarrina AusNiCo Ltd 100 Under Application 

EL 4167 Yandeminta 2 AusNiCo Ltd 100 29-Aug-2013 

EL 4168 Kooneberry North 1 AusNiCo Ltd 100 29-Aug-2013 

EL 4169 Kooneberry North 2 AusNiCo Ltd 100 29-Aug-2013 

EL 4170 Kooneberry North 3 AusNiCo Ltd 100 29-Aug-2013 

EL 4171 Kooneberry North 4 AusNiCo Ltd 100 29-Aug-2013 

ELA 4172 Kooneberry South 1 AusNiCo Ltd 100 Under Application 

ELA 4173 Kooneberry South 2 AusNiCo Ltd 100 Under Application 

ELA 4174 Kooneberry South 3 AusNiCo Ltd 100 Under Application 

ELA 4175 Kooneberry South 4 AusNiCo Ltd 100 Under Application 

ELA 4176 Kooneberry South 5 AusNiCo Ltd 100 Under Application 
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INTEREST IN TENEMENTS (continued) 
 
Tenure Type, Number and Name Current Holder Registered 

Interest of 
Holder (%) 

Date of Expiry 

EPM 18410 Peeham Extended Barlyne Mining Pty Ltd 100 28-Mar-2013 

EPM 13361 Peeham Barlyne Mining Pty Ltd 100 5-Feb-20111  

EPM 18451 Calgoa Barlyne Mining Pty Ltd 100 20-May-2013 

EPM 18499 Rawbelle Barlyne Mining Pty Ltd 100 27-Feb-2014 

EPM 18493 Great Blackall Barlyne Mining Pty Ltd 100 17-Aug-2013 

EPMA 18559 Tewoo Barlyne Mining Pty Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPM18808 Pinnacle Barlyne Mining Pty Ltd 100 28-Oct-2012 

EPMA 18984 Eungella Barlyne Mining Pty Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 19062 Quart Pot Creek Barlyne Mining Pty Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPM 19087 Mt Abbot Barlyne Mining Pty Ltd 100 28-Jul-2014 

    

EPMA 19266 Storm Hill Coolgarra Minerals Pty Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 19270 Pandanus Creek Coolgarra Minerals Pty Ltd 100 Under Application 

    

EL 6652 Cow Flat D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 19-Oct-20101 

EL 7497 Georges Plains D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 31-Mar-2012 

EPM 15134 Gayndah D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 29-Sep- 20101,2 

EPM 15238 Manumbar D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 13-Dec-2012 

EPM 18087 Alexander Crk. D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 3-Nov-2011 

EPM 18586 Upper Kariobe D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 23-Aug-2012 

MDLA 409 Daddamarine D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 Grant Pending2,3 

ML 3678 United Reefs D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 31-May-2022 

ML 3741 Shamrock Extd. D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 30-Sep-20091 

ML 3748 Black Shamrock D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 28-Feb-2013 

ML 3749 North Chinaman D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 31-Jul-20071 

ML 3752 Shamrock Tailings D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 31-Jan-20101 

ML 3753 Shamrock Tailings 
Extended 

D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 31-Aug-2013 

ML 50059 Manumbar D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 31-Dec-20081 

ML 50099 Manumbar Extd. D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 31-Aug-2013 

ML 50148 Tableland D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd 100 30-Apr-2014 

    

EPM 16259 Cardarga Eastern Exploration Pty Ltd4 100 22-Aug-2012 

EPM 16260 Cardarga Two Eastern Exploration Pty Ltd4 100 11-Jun-2013 

EPM 16261 Cardarga One Eastern Exploration Pty Ltd4 100 27-May-2013 

    

EPMA 19185 Armitice Hartz Rare Earths Pty Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 19290 Mannings Hartz Rare Earths Pty Ltd 100 Under Application 

    

ELA 4313 Manilla Pinnacle Gold Pty Ltd 100 Under Application 

ELA 4314 Coolgardie Hill Pinnacle Gold Pty Ltd 100 Under Application 

ELA 4315 Oakey Creek Pinnacle Gold Pty Ltd 100 Under Application 

ELA 4316 Bald Hill Pinnacle Gold Pty Ltd 100 Under Application 

    

EPC 2692 Cadarga Quiver Coal Pty Ltd 100 Under Application 
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INTEREST IN TENEMENTS (continued) 
 
Tenure Type, Number and Name Current Holder Registered 

Interest of 
Holder (%) 

Date of Expiry 

EPM 16854 Dawson Valley North IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 12-Dec-2012 

EPMA 16857 Belington IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPM 16859 Dawson Valley South IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 2-May-2012 

EPM 17580 Burnwood IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 2-May-2012 

EPM 17640 Grosvenor Crk. IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 12-Oct-2012 

EPM 17881 Grosvenor 3 IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 17-Jun-2012 

EPM 17926 Reedy Creek IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 27-Mar-2013 

EPM 17927 Forest Hills IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 27-Mar-2013 

EPM 17929 Coorada IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 27-Mar-2013 

EPM 18037 Coorada South IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 26-Oct-2012 

EPM 18108 Brovinia IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 25-Nov-2012 

EPM 18534 Quaggy Creek IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 11-Oct-2012 

EPMA 18689 Westgrove IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 18691 Redbank IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 18692 Sunnyvale IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPM 18693 Mt. Hutton IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 11-Oct-2015 

EPMA 18695 Pony Hills IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 18696 Cheviot IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPM 18697 Clissold Downs IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 11-Oct-2015 

EPM 18698 Euroa IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 11-Oct-2015 

EPMA 19164 Glencoe IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 19200 Musselbrook IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 19239 Duck Creek IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 19240 Duck Creek West IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 19279 Kingaroy IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 19289 Old Weipa Mission IronRidge Resources Ltd 100 Under Application 

    

EPMA 18383 Westmoreland East Ripple Resources Pty Ltd 100 Under Application 

EPMA 19208 Westmoreland South Ripple Resources Pty Ltd 100 Under Application 

    
 
Note: 
1.  Renewal applications have been lodged in respect of these Exploration Permits and Mining Leases. 
2.  Tenement being transferred to Barlyne Mining Pty Ltd after renewal or grant. 
3.  Grant pending – Grant has been offered by the Minister, the offer accepted and the security bond and first year rent 

paid, but the grant document not yet received. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
 
  2011  2010 
 Notes $  $ 
     
Revenue and other income     
Revenue 2 1,254,285  80,408 
Other income 2 4,864,927  7,671,048 

Total revenue and other income  6,119,212  7,751,456 

     
Expenses     
Finance costs  (128,934)  (32,151) 
Employee benefits expenses  (2,582,364)  (567,424) 
Depreciation  (54,555)  (60,961) 
Legal expenses  (259,116)  (81,581) 
Administration and consulting expenses  (1,920,551)  (534,578) 
Exploration and evaluation assets written-off  (207,179)  (412,832) 
Fair value adjustment of financial asset to fair value  -  (973,868) 
Share of losses of associates  (906,503)  (979,450) 
Impairment of investment in associate  (2,098,280)  - 
Share based payments expense  (2,936,337)  (36,732) 
Other expenses  (248,446)  (473,536) 

Profit (loss) before income tax 3 (5,223,053)  3,598,343 
Income tax (expense)/benefit 4 422,785  - 

Profit (loss) for the year  (4,800,268)  3,598,343 

     
Other comprehensive income     
Change in fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets 

 5,451,166  - 

Income tax relating to other comprehensive 
income 

 (1,635,350)  - 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net 
of tax 

 3,815,816  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  (984,452)  3,598,343 

     
     
Profit / (loss) for the year attributable to:     
 Owners of the parent company  (3,995,362)  3,691,248 
 Non-controlling interests  (804,906)  (92,905) 

  (4,800,268)  3,598,343 

     
Total comprehensive income for the year 
attributable to: 

    

 Owners of the parent company  (179,546)  3,691,248 
 Non-controlling interests  (804,906)  (92,905) 

  (984,452)  3,598,343 

     
     
     
     
Earnings per share attributable to owners of 
the parent company 

 Cents / share  Cents / share 

Basic earnings per share 8 (1.2)  1.4 
Diluted earnings per share 8 (1.2)  1.4 
     
     
     
 
 
 
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 30 June 2011 
 
 
  2011  2010 
 Notes $  $ 
     
Current assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 9 14,801,474  899,726 
Trade and other receivables 10 356,612  1,631,879 
Other current assets 16 332,000  105,391 

Total current assets  15,490,086  2,636,996 

     
Non-current assets     
Other financial assets 11 10,271,096  4,268,916 
Investments accounted for using the equity 
method 

13 11,088,680  8,500,000 

Property, plant and equipment 14 627,017  520,475 
Exploration and evaluation assets 15 11,896,187  8,915,150 

Total non-current assets  33,882,980  22,204,541 

     

Total assets  49,373,066  24,841,537 

     
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 17 1,658,436  1,027,030 
Other financial liabilities 18 14,141  15,219 

Total current liabilities  1,672,577  1,042,249 

     
Non-current liabilities     
Other financial liabilities 18 53,235  - 
Deferred tax liabilities 4 974,335  - 
Provisions 19 600,000  600,000 

Total non-current liabilities  1,627,570  600,000 

     

Total liabilities  3,300,147  1,642,249 

     
Net assets  46,072,919  23,199,288 

     
Equity     
Issued capital 20 21,885,983  21,650,983 
Reserves 21 24,628,686  7,506,591 
Accumulated losses 22 (10,319,405)  (6,776,590) 

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 
company 

 36,195,264  22,380,984 

Non-controlling interests  9,877,655  818,304 

Total equity   46,072,919  23,199,288 

     
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
 Attributable to Owners of Parent Company   
 Issued 

Capital 
Accumulated 

Losses 
Share-
Based 

Payments 
Reserve 

Available-
For-Sale 
Financial 

Assets 
Reserve 

Change in 
Proportionate 

Interest 
Reserve 

Total Non-
Controlling 
Interests 

Total 
Equity 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2009 18,742,168 (10,454,972) 1,984,461 - 4,741,093 15,012,750 878,823 15,891,573 
Profit for the year - 3,691,248 - - - 3,691,248 (92,905) 3,598,343 
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year - 3,691,248 - - - 3,691,248 (92,905) 3,598,343 
Issue of shares 3,018,228 - - - - 3,018,228 - 3,018,228 
Issue of shares to non-controlling interests - - - - 731,439 731,439 (94,314) 637,125 
Share issue costs, net of tax (134,413) - - - - (134,413) - (134,413) 
Share based payments 25,000 - 36,732 - - 61,732 - 61,732 
Non-controlling interest in subsidiary disposed - - - - - - 126,700 126,700 
Other - (12,866) - - 12,866 - - - 

Balance at 30 June 2010 21,650,983 (6,776,590) 2,021,193 - 5,485,398 22,380,984 818,304 23,199,288 

         
Loss for the year - (3,995,362) - - - (3,995,362) (804,906) (4,800,268) 
Other comprehensive income - - - 3,815,816 - 3,815,816 - 3,815,816 

Total comprehensive income for the year - (3,995,362) - 3,815,816 - (179,546) (804,906) (984,452) 
Issue of shares 210,000 - - - - 210,000 - 210,000 
Issue of shares to non-controlling interests - - - - 10,758,075 10,758,075 10,242,390 21,000,465 
Share issue costs, net of tax - - - - (722,628) (722,628) - (722,628) 
Share based payments 25,000 - 3,723,379 - - 3,748,379 - 3,748,379 
Non-controlling interest in subsidiary disposed - - - - - - (378,133) (378,133) 
Transfer within equity - 452,547 (452,547) - - - - - 

Balance at 30 June 2011 21,885,983 (10,319,405) 5,292,025 3,815,816 15,520,845 36,195,264 9,877,655 46,072,919 

 
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
 
  2011  2010 
 Notes $  $ 
     
Cash flows from operating activities     
Receipts in the course of operations  1,011,915  416,726 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (5,689,756)  (2,051,161) 
Interest received  346,037  11,546 
Interest and other costs of finance paid  (128,934)  (32,151) 

Net cash flows from operating activities 30 (4,460,738)  (1,655,040) 

     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Security Deposit (payment)/refunds  (94,000)  (46,103) 
Payments for property, plant and equipment  (88,481)  (4,778) 
Payments for investments in available-for-sale financial 
assets 

 (457,017)  - 

Payments for investments in associates  (300,000)  - 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure  (2,366,078)  (1,752,352) 
Cash inflow from business combination  -  4 
Cash inflow/(outflow) on disposal of subsidiary  -  970,546 
Proceeds from the repayment of convertible notes  1,000,000  - 

Net cash flows from investing activities  (2,305,576)  (832,683) 

     
Cash flows from financing activities     
Proceeds from the issue of shares  633,000  2,595,288 
Proceeds from the issue of shares in subsidiaries to non-
controlling interests 

 21,000,465  392,125 

Capital raising expenses  (944,942)  (215,882) 
Proceeds from borrowings  500,000  - 
Repayment of borrowings  (520,461)  (50,371) 

Net cash flows from financing activities  20,668,062  2,721,160 

     
Net increase / (decrease) in cash held  13,901,748  233,437 
Cash at the beginning of the year  899,726  666,289 

Cash at the end of the financial year 9 14,801,474  899,726 

     
     
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Corporate Information 
 
The consolidated financial report of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2011 was authorized for 
issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 30 September 2011. 
 
D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd (the “Parent” or the “Company”) is a public company limited by shares incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia.  The Company‟s registered office is located at Level 5, 60 Edward Street, Brisbane, QLD 
4000. 
 
The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the director‟s report. 
 
Basis of Preparation 
 
This financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, including Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The financial report covers the Group comprising of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd and its subsidiaries and is presented in 
Australian dollars. 
 
Compliance with IFRS 
Australian Accounting Standards include Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(AIFRS). Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the financial statements and notes of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd comply 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
 
 
Going concern 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates the continuity of 
normal business activities and the realisation of assets and discharge of liabilities in the ordinary course of 
business.  The Group has not generated significant revenues from operations.  As such, the Group‟s ability to 
continue to adopt the going concern assumption will depend upon a number of matters including subsequent 
successful raising in the future of necessary funding and the successful exploration and subsequent 
exploitation of the Group‟s tenements and investments. In the absence of these matters being successful, 
there exists a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group‟s ability to continue as a 
going concern with the result that the Group may have to realize its assets and extinguish its liabilities other 
than in the ordinary course of business, and at amounts different from those stated in the financial 
statements.  No adjustments for such circumstances have been made in the financial statements. 
 
Reporting basis and conventions 
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs modified by the 
revaluation of selected non-current assets, and financial assets and financial liabilities for which the fair value 
basis of accounting has been applied. 
 
The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Group in the preparation of the 
financial report.   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Accounting Policies 
 

(a) New and amended standards and interpretations 
The following new and amended standards and interpretations are mandatory for the first time for the 
financial year beginning 1 July 2010: 

 AASB 2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project 

 AASB 2009-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment 
Transactions 

 AASB 2009-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Rights Issues 

 AASB Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments and related 
amendments; and 

 AASB 2010-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements Project. 
 
The adoption of these standards and interpretations did not have any material impact on the current or any 
prior period and is not likely to materially affect future periods. 
 
A number of new standards, amendments and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 
1 July 2010, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.  None of these is expected to 
have a significant effect on the financial statements, except for the following: 
 
(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2013) 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and de-recognition of financial assets 
and financial liabilities.  It simplifies the approach for classification and measurement of financial assets 
compared with the requirements of AASB 139.  Financial assets are to be classified based on (a) the objective 
of the entity‟s business model for managing the financial assets; and (b) the characteristics of the contractual 
cash flows.  This replaces the numerous categories of financial assets in AASB 139. The Company does not plan 
to adopt this standard early and the extent of the impact has not been determined. 
 
(ii) AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets 
(effective from 1 July 2011) 
Amendments made to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures introduce additional disclosures in respect of 
risk exposures arising from transferred financial assets.  The amendments will affect particularly entities that 
sell, factor, securitise, lend or otherwise transfer financial assets to other parties.  The Company has not yet 
determined the extent of the impact on its disclosures. 
 
(iii) AASB 2010-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying 
Assets (effective from 1 January 2012) 
The amendments made to AASB 112 Income Taxes provide a practical approach for measuring deferred tax 
liabilities and deferred tax assets when investment property is measured using the fair value model.  Under 
AASB 112, the measurement of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets depends on whether an entity 
expects to recover an asset by using it or by selling it.  However, it is often difficult and subjective to 
determine the expected manner of recovery when the investment property is measured using the fair value 
model.  To provide a practical approach in such cases, the amendments introduce a rebuttable presumption 
that an investment property is recovered entirely through sale. The Company does not plan to adopt this 
amendment early and the extent of the impact has not been determined. 
 
In addition to the above, new and amended standards dealing with Consolidated Financial Statements, 
Separate Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities and Fair Value 
Measurement have recently been released.  These standards are effective from 1 January 2013.  The Company 
does not plan to adopt these standards early nor has the extent of their impact been determined. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(b) Basis of Consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd and its 
subsidiaries as at and for the period ended 30 June each year (the “Group”). 
 
Subsidiaries 
 
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities.  The existence and effect of potential voting rights that 
are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another 
entity. 
 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent 
company, using consistent accounting policies.  In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all 
intercompany balances, transactions, unrealized gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and 
dividends have been eliminated in full. 
 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Group and cease to be 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries held by D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd are accounted for at cost in the separate financial 
statements of the parent entity less any impairment charges.  Dividends received from subsidiaries are 
recorded as a component of other revenues by the parent entity, and do not impact the recorded cost of the 
investment. Upon receipt of dividend payments from subsidiaries, the parent will assess whether any 
indicators of impairment of the carrying value of the investment in the subsidiary exist.  Where such indicators 
exist, to the extent that the carrying value of the investment exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment 
loss is recognised. 
 
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.  The acquisition 
method of accounting involves recognising at acquisition date, separately from goodwill, the identifiable 
assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  The identifiable 
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are measured at their acquisition date fair values. 
 
The difference between the above items and the fair value of consideration (including the fair value of any 
pre-existing investment in the acquiree) is goodwill or discount on acquisition. 
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group‟s cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, 
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 
 
Where goodwill forms part of a cash generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, 
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation 
when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.  Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is 
measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash generating unit 
retained. 
 
Non-controlling interests are allocated their share of net profit after tax in the statement of comprehensive 
income and presented within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from the 
equity of the owners of the parent. 
 
Losses are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 1:  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(b) Basis of Consolidation (continued) 
 
Associates 
 
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates 
are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, after 
initially being recognised at cost. The Group‟s investment in associates includes goodwill (net of any 
accumulated impairment loss) identified on acquisition. 
 
The Group‟s share of its associates‟ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in profit or loss and its share 
of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income 
where applicable. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the 
investment. Dividends receivable from associates reduce the carrying amount of the investment. 
 
When the Group‟s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any 
other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group‟s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Joint Ventures 
 
Jointly controlled assets 
The proportionate interests in the assets, liabilities and expenses of a joint venture activity have been 
incorporated in the financial statements under the appropriate headings. 
 
Changes in Ownership Interests 
 
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as 
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment 
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests 
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any 
consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of 
D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd. 
 
When the Group ceases to have control, or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is 
remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is 
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an 
associate or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in 
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified 
to profit or loss. 
 
If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate 
share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss 
where appropriate. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(c) Business Combinations 
 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.  The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair 
values of the assets transferred by the acquirer, the liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of 
the acquiree and the equity issued by the acquirer, and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree.  For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree‟s identifiable net assets.  Acquisition-related 
costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with contractual terms, economic conditions, the Group‟s 
operating or accounting policies and other pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.   
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer‟s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value through profit and loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date.  Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be 
an asset or liability will be recognised in accordance with AASB 139 either in profit or loss or as a change to 
other comprehensive income.  If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured. 
 
(d) Operating Segments 
 
An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity‟s chief operating 
decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance 
and for which discrete financial information is available.  This may include start-up operations which are yet 
to earn revenues.   
 
Operating segments that meet the quantitative criteria as prescribed by AASB 8 are reported separately.  
However, an operating segment that does not meet the quantitative criteria is still reported separately where 
information about the segment would be useful to users of the financial statements. 
 
Information about other operating segments that are below the quantitative criteria are combined and 
disclosed in a separate category for “all other segments”. 
 
(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
For the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with 
banks, other short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank 
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of 
financial position. 
 
(f) Trade and Other Receivables 
 
Receivables generally have 30-60 day terms, are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for impairment. 
 
Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Individual debts that are known to be 
uncollectible are written off when identified.  An impairment provision is recognised when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the receivable.  Financial difficulties of the debtor or debts 
more than 90 days overdue are considered objective evidence of impairment. The amount of the impairment 
loss is the receivable carrying amount compared to the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(g) Financial Instruments 

 
Recognition and Initial Measurement 
Financial instruments, incorporating financial assets and financial liabilities, are recognised when the entity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Trade date accounting is adopted for 
financial assets that are delivered within timeframes established by marketplace convention. 
 
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs where the instrument is not 
classified as at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs related to instruments classified as at fair 
value through profit or loss are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Financial instruments are classified and 
measured as set out below. 
 
Classification and Subsequent Measurement 
(i) Loans and receivables  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. 
 

(ii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading.  A financial 
asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.  
Derivatives are classified as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges.  Assets in this 
category are classified as current assets.  These assets are measured at fair value with gains or losses 
recognised in the profit or loss. 
 

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets comprise investments in listed and unlisted entities and non-
derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any other categories.  After 
initial recognition, these investments are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in 
other comprehensive income. 

 
(iv) Financial liabilities  

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
 

Fair value 
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments.  Valuation techniques are 
applied to determine the fair value of all other financial assets and liabilities, where appropriate, including 
recent arm‟s length transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models. 
 
Derecognition 
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is 
transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the 
risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognized where the related obligations 
are either discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying value of the financial liability 
extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of 
non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit of loss.  
 
  



 
   

D‟Aguilar Gold Limited annual report for the year ended 30 June 2011 47 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 1:  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(g) Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
An assessment is made at each balance date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a specific 
financial asset or a group of financial assets may be impaired.  If such evidence exists, the estimated 
recoverable amount of that asset is determined from available information such as quoted market prices or by 
calculating the net present value of future anticipated cash flows.  In estimating these cash flows, 
management makes judgements about a counter-party's financial situation and the net realisable value of any 
underlying collateral.  Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss. 
 
Impairment losses on assets measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method are 
calculated by comparing the carrying value of the asset with the present value of estimated future cash flows 
at the original effective interest rate. 
 
Where there is objective evidence that an available for sale financial asset is impaired (such as a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of an available for sale financial asset) and the previous decline in the fair 
value of the asset has been recognised in other comprehensive income the cumulative loss that has been 
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification 
adjustment.  When a subsequent event reduces the impairment of an available for sale debt security the 
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. When a subsequent event reduces the impairment of an 
available for sale equity instrument the fair value increased is recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 
(h) Property, Plant & Equipment 

 
Property, plant & equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. 
 
The cost of property, plant & equipment constructed within the Group includes the cost of materials, direct 
labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate portion of fixed and variable costs. Subsequent costs are included 
in the asset‟s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss during the financial 
year in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation 
The depreciable amount of all property, plant & equipment is depreciated over their useful life to the Group 
commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.  Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the 
shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements. 
 
The depreciation rates used for each class of assets are: 
 

Class of property, plant & equipment  Depreciation 
Freehold building     2.5% Straight line 
Plant and equipment    10% -35% Straight line 
Computers and office equipment   33.3% Straight line 
Furniture and fittings    20% Straight line 
Motor vehicles     25% Straight line 
 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.  These are 
included in profit or loss.   
 

Derecognition 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

(i) Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of 
interest.  Such expenditures comprise net direct costs and an appropriate portion of related overhead 
expenditure but do not include overheads or administration expenditure not having a specific nexus with a 
particular area of interest.  These costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be 
recouped through the successful development of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached 
a stage which permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves and active 
or significant operations in relation to the area are continuing. 
 

A regular review has been undertaken on each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing 
to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest. 
 

A provision is raised against exploration and evaluation assets where the Directors are of the opinion that the 
carried forward net cost may not be recoverable or the right of tenure in the area lapses.  The increase in the 
provision is charged against the results for the year.  Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are 
written off in full against profit in the year in which the decision to abandon the area is made. 
 

When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised over the 
life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. 
 

Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the area from when exploration commences and are 
included in the costs of that stage.  Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of mining plant, 
equipment and building structure, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with clauses of 
mining permits.  Such costs have been determined using estimates of future costs, current legal requirements 
and technology on an undiscounted basis. 
 

Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted on a prospective basis.  In determining the costs of 
site restoration, there is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to community 
expectations and future legislation.  Accordingly the costs have been determined on the basis that restoration 
will be completed within one year of abandoning the site.   
 

(j) Impairment of Assets 
 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its assets to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have been impaired.  If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset, being the higher of the asset‟s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset‟s 
carrying value.  Any excess of the asset‟s carrying value over it recoverable amount is expensed to the profit 
or loss. 
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
(k) Trade and Other Payables 
 
Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and due to their short term nature they are not 
discounted.  They represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 
financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect 
of the purchase of these goods and services.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30-60 
days of recognition. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(l) Provisions and Employee Benefits 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a 
separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense relating to any provision is 
presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of management‟s best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the present obligation at the reporting date.  The discount rate used to determine the present value 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The 
increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised in finance costs. 
 
Employee benefits 
 
(i) Wages, salaries and annual leave 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of employees‟ services up to the reporting 
date.  They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  Expenses for 
non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and measured at the rates paid or 
payable. 
 
(ii) Long service leave 
The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.  Consideration is 
given to expected future wages and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service.  
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government 
bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 
outflows. 
 
(m) Leases  
 
Leases of property, plant & equipment where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the 
ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the Group are classified as finance 
leases. 
 
Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the 
fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any 
guaranteed residual values.  Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the 
lease interest expense for the year. 
 
Leased assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives where it is likely that 
the Group will obtain ownership of the asset or over the term of the lease. 
 
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are 
charged as expenses on a straight line basis over the lease term. 
 
Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over 

the lease term.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(n) Share Capital 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 
shown as a deduction from the equity proceeds, net of any income tax benefit.   
 
(o) Share-Based Payments 
 
The Group may provide benefits to Directors, employees or consultants in the form of share-based payment 
transactions, whereby services may be undertaken in exchange for shares or options over shares ("equity-
settled transactions").  
 
The fair value of options granted to Directors, employees and consultants is recognised as an employee benefit 
expense with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based payments reserve). The fair value is measured at 
grant date and recognised over the period during which the recipients become unconditionally entitled to the 
options. Fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. An expense is still recognised 
for options that do not ultimately vest because a market condition was not met. 
 
Where the terms of options are modified, the expense continues to be recognised from grant date to vesting 
date as if the terms had never been changed. In addition, at the date of the modification, a further expense is 
recognised for any increase in fair value of the transaction as a result of the change. 

 
Where options are cancelled, they are treated as if vesting occurred on cancellation and any unrecognised 
expenses are taken immediately to the profit or loss.  If new options are substituted for the cancelled options 
and designated as a replacement, the combined impact of the cancellation and replacement options are 
treated as if they were a modification. 
 
(p) Revenue 

 
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable to the extent 
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.  
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 
 
Interest 
Interest revenue is recognized as interest accrues using the effective interest rate method.  This is a method 
of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
 
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 
 
(q) Income Tax 

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period‟s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses. 
 
The current income tax expense is based on the profit for the year adjusted for any non-assessable or 
disallowed items.  It is calculated using the tax rates that have been enacted or are substantially enacted by 
the balance date. 
 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  
No deferred income tax is recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business 
combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(q) Income Tax (continued) 
 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or 
liability is settled.  Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss except where it relates to items that may be 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the deferred tax is recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly against equity respectively. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary 
differences and unused tax losses can be utilised. 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended 
that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur.  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists, the deferred 
tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same 
taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation 
and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in future periods in which significant amounts of 
deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 
 
D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated group 

under the tax consolidation regime.  D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd is responsible for recognising the current tax assets 

and liabilities and deferred tax assets attributable to tax losses for the tax consolidation group.  The tax 

consolidated group have entered a tax funding agreement whereby each company in the tax consolidation 

group contributes to the income tax payable in proportion to their contribution to the net profit before tax of 

the tax consolidation group. 

(r) GST 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST except where GST incurred on a purchase of goods 
and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item. 
 
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of 
financial position. 
 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority, are classified as operating cash flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(s) Earnings per Share 
 
Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit (loss) attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to 
exclude any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, divided by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element. 
 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into 
account: 

 The after tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary 
shares; and 

 The weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding 
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 
(t) Comparatives 
 
When required by Australian Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to 
changes in presentation for the current financial year. 

 
(u) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
 
The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on historical 
knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events 
and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Group. 
 
Key judgements – exploration & evaluation assets 
The Group performs regular reviews on each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing 
to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest. These reviews are based on detailed surveys and 
analysis of drilling results performed to balance date. 
 
The Directors have assessed that for the exploration and evaluation assets recognised at 30 June 2011, the 
facts and circumstances do not suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable 
amount. In considering this the Directors have had regard to the facts and circumstances that indicate a need 
for an impairment as noted in Accounting Standard AASB 6 “Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral 
Resources”.   
 
Exploration and evaluation assets at 30 June 2011 were $11,896,187 (2010: $8,915,150).  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 2. Revenue and Other Income  
  2011  2010 
  $  $ 
     
Revenue     
- Interest   346,037  11,546 
- Management fees  908,248  68,862 

Total Revenue  1,254,285  80,408 

     
Interest revenue from:     
- Deposits held with financial institutions  346,037  11,546 

Total Interest Revenue  346,037  11,546 

     
Other income     
- Gain on loss of control of subsidiary  4,482,171  3,941,598 
- Reversal of impairment of investment in associate  131,356  3,729,450 
- Other income  251,400  - 

Total other income  4,864,927  7,671,048 

 
 
Note 3. Profit / (Loss) 

    

Profit/(loss) before income tax has been determined 
after: 

    

Finance costs     
- External  28,934  2,151 
- Related parties  100,000  30,000 

Total finance costs  128,934  32,151 

     
Share based payments expense  2,936,337  36,732 
Defined contributions superannuation expense  179,434  55,484 
Minimum lease rentals under operating leases  321,583  138,172 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
  2011  2010 
  $  $ 
Note 4. Income Tax     
     
(a) Components of tax expense comprise:     
Current tax  (1,743,956)  (413,546) 
Deferred tax    1,624,366  413,546 
Prior year under/over provision   (303,195)  - 

  (422,785)  - 

     
Components of tax expense on other 
comprehensive income comprise:   

  

Current tax  -  - 
Deferred tax    1,635,350  - 

  1,635,350  - 

     
(b) The prima facie tax on profit / (loss) before 
income tax is reconciled to the income tax 
expense as follows: 

    

Prima facie tax on profit / (loss) before income tax 
at 30% (2010: 30%) 

  
(1,566,916) 

  
1,079,503 

     
Add tax effect of:     
Share based payments  880,901  18,520 
Deferred assets not recognized  566,425  - 
     

  (119,590)  1,098,023 

Less tax effect of:     
Benefit of deferred tax assets relating to prior years 
not previously recognised 

  
- 

  
(1,098,023) 

Net prior year over/under provision  (303,195)  - 

Income tax expense  (422,785)  - 
 

(c) Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities     
2011 Opening 

balance 
$ 

Net 
charged to 

income 
$ 

Net charged 
to equity 

$ 

Loss of 
control of 
subsidiary 

$ 

Closing 
balance  

 
$ 

Deferred tax asset      
Carried forward tax losses 4,540,590 2,047,151 - (435,176) 6,152,565 
Accruals/provisions 213,054 20,023 - - 233,077 
Impairment of investments 414,640 (414,640) - - - 
Capital raising costs expensed 49,084 55,946 - - 105,030 
Capital raising costs in equity 52,023 (65,955) 238,230 - 224,298 
AFS revaluation - - 16,718 - 16,718 

 5,269,391 1,642,525 254,948 (435,176) 6,731,688 

      
Deferred tax liability      
AFS revaluation (2,617,599) 6,551 (1,652,068) - (4,263,116) 
Exploration and evaluation 
assets (2,651,792) (1,226,291) - 435,176 (3,442,907) 

 (5,269,391) (1,219,740) (1,652,068) 435,176 (7,706,023) 

      

Net deferred tax - 422,785 (1,397,120) - (974,335) 

      
Deferred tax assets not 
recognised      
Unused tax losses 10,814,210 1,888,083 - (756,580) 11,945,713 

Tax benefit at 30% 3,244,263 566,425 - (226,974) 3,583,714 

  



 
   

D‟Aguilar Gold Limited annual report for the year ended 30 June 2011 55 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 

 
Note 4. Income Tax (continued) 
 
2010 Opening 

balance 
$ 

Net 
charged to 

income 
$ 

Net charged 
to equity 

$ 

Loss of 
control of 
subsidiary 

$ 

Closing 
balance  

 
$ 

Deferred tax asset      
Carried forward tax losses 4,127,736 413,546 - (692) 4,540,590 
Accruals/provisions 212,344 710 - - 213,054 
Impairment of investments 122,480 292,160 - - 414,640 
Capital raising costs expensed 53,586 (4,502) - - 49,084 
Capital raising costs in equity 40,552 11,471 - - 52,023 
AFS revaluation - - - - - 

 4,556,698 713,385 - (692) 5,269,391 

      
Deferred tax liability      
AFS revaluation (1,792,599) (825,000) - - (2,617,599) 
Exploration and evaluation 
assets (2,764,099) 111,615 - 692 (2,651,792) 

 (4,556,698) (713,385) - 692 (5,269,391) 

      

Net deferred tax - - - - - 

      
Deferred tax assets not 
recognised      
Unused tax losses 12,433,617 (1,577,454) - (41,953) 10,814,210 

Tax benefit at 30% 3,730,085 (473,236) - (12,586) 3,244,263 

 
 
 
In order to recoup carried forward losses in future periods, either the Continuity of Ownership Test (COT) or 
Same Business Test must be passed.  The majority of losses are carried forward at 30 June 2011 under COT. 
 

Deferred tax assets which have not been recognised as an asset, will only be obtained if: 

(i) the Company derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the 

losses to be realised; 

(ii) the Company continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by the law; and  

no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Company in realising the losses. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 

Note 5. Key Management Personnel 
 

(a) Key Management Personnel Compensation 
 

Refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors Report for details of the remuneration paid or 
payable to each member of the Group‟s key management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2011.The 
totals of remuneration paid to Key Management Personnel during the year are as follows: 
 

  2011  2010 
  $  $ 
Short-term employee benefits  1,237,400  710,137 
Post-employment benefits  34,425  14,862 
Other long term benefits  -  - 
Termination benefits  -  - 
Share-based payments  1,935,821  61,732 

Total  3,207,646  786,731 
 

(b) Equity Instruments 
 

Shareholdings of key management personnel in D’Aguilar Gold Ltd (including indirect holdings) 
 

Current Year Balance 
1 July 2010 

Granted as 
Compensation 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change# 
Other 

Balance 
30 June 2011 

      
Directors      
William Stubbs 756,818 - - - 756,818 
Nicholas Mather 45,516,662 - - - 45,516,662 
Brian Moller 1,301,909 - - - 1,301,909 
Vince Mascolo 2,546,207 - - - 2,546,207 
Other Key Management 
Personnel 

     

Greg Runge 4,321,382 - - - 4,321,382 
Karl Schlobohm 615,638 200,000 2,000,000 (400,000) 2,415,638 
Neil Wilkins 2,371,168 - - - 2,371,168 
Priy Jayasuriya1 - - - - - 
Carlie Rogers2 - - - - - 

Total 57,429,784 200,000 2,000,000 (400,000) 59,229,784 
1 Priy Jayasuriya was appointed on 22 November 2010. 
2 Carlie Rogers was appointed on 13 September 2010. 
#Net Change Other includes the balance of shares held on appointment / resignation, and shares acquired and sold for cash in on market 
transactions. 
 

Previous Year Balance 
1 July 2009 

Granted as 
Compensation 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change# 
Other 

Balance 
30 June 2010 

      
Directors      
William Stubbs1 - - - 756,818 756,818 
Nicholas Mather 9,859,253 - - 35,657,409 45,516,662 
Brian Moller 1,154,251 - - 147,658 1,301,909 
Vince Mascolo 2,263,295 - - 282,912 2,546,207 
Ian Levy2 1,056,571 - - (1,056,571) - 
Other Key Management 
Personnel 

     

Greg Runge 2,841,228 - - 1,480,154 4,321,382 
Karl Schlobohm 157,305 458,333 - - 615,638 
Neil Wilkins 1,885,454 - - 485,714 2,371,168 

Total 19,217,357 458,333 - 37,754,094 57,429,784 
1 William Stubbs was appointed on 26 November 2009. 
2 Ian Levy retired on 25 November 2009. 
#Net Change Other includes the balance of shares held on appointment / resignation, and shares acquired and sold for cash in on market 
transactions. Net Change Other for Nicholas Mather includes his participation in a placement of shares approved by shareholders in a 
general meeting of 30 September 2009. 
 

There were no shares held nominally at 30 June 2011 (2010: nil).  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 5. Key Management Personnel (continued) 
 
(b) Equity Instruments (continued) 

Shareholdings of key management personnel in AusNiCo Ltd (including indirect holdings) 
 

Current Year Balance 
1 July 2010 

Granted as 
Compensation 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change# 
Other 

Balance 
30 June 2011 

      
Directors      
William Stubbs - - - 35,000 35,000 
Nicholas Mather - - - 2,440,000 2,440,000 
Brian Moller - - - 50,000 50,000 
Vince Mascolo - - - 320,000 320,000 
Other Key Management 
Personnel 

     

Greg Runge - - - 160,000 160,000 
Karl Schlobohm - - - 10,000 10,000 
Neil Wilkins - - - 201,800 201,800 
Priy Jayasuriya1 - - - - - 
Carlie Rogers2 - - - - - 

Total - - - 3,216,800 3,216,800 
1 Priy Jayasuriya was appointed on 22 November 2010. 
2 Carlie Rogers was appointed on 13 September 2010. 
#Net Change Other includes the balance of shares held on appointment / resignation, and shares acquired and sold for cash in on market 
transactions. 
 

Previous Year Balance 
1 July 2009 

Granted as 
Compensation 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change# 
Other 

Balance 
30 June 2010 

      
Directors      
William Stubbs1 - - - - - 
Nicholas Mather - - - - - 
Brian Moller - - - - - 
Vince Mascolo - - - - - 
Ian Levy2 2,800,000 - - (2,800,000) - 
Other Key Management 
Personnel 

     

Greg Runge - - - - - 
Karl Schlobohm - - - - - 
Neil Wilkins - - - - - 

Total 2,800,000 - - (2,800,000) - 
1 William Stubbs was appointed on 26 November 2009. 
2 Ian Levy retired on 25 November 2009. 
#Net Change Other includes the balance of shares held on appointment / resignation, and shares acquired and sold for cash in on market 
transactions. 
 

There were no shares held nominally at 30 June 2011 (2010: nil). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 

Note 5. Key Management Personnel (continued) 
 

(b) Equity Instruments (continued) 

Shareholdings of key management personnel in Armour Energy Ltd (including indirect holdings) 
 

Current Year Balance 
1 July 2010 

Granted as 
Compensation 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change# 
Other 

Balance 
30 June 2011 

      
Directors      
William Stubbs - - - 250,000 250,000 
Nicholas Mather - - - - - 
Brian Moller - - - 350,000 350,000 
Vince Mascolo - - - 50,000 50,000 
Other Key Management 
Personnel 

     

Greg Runge - - - 100,000 100,000 
Karl Schlobohm - - - 175,000 175,000 
Neil Wilkins - - - 1,200,000 1,200,000 
Priy Jayasuriya1 - - - - - 
Carlie Rogers2 - - - - - 

Total - - - 2,125,000 2,125,000 
1 Priy Jayasuriya was appointed on 22 November 2010. 
2 Carlie Rogers was appointed on 13 September 2010. 
#Net Change Other includes the balance of shares held on appointment / resignation, and shares acquired and sold for cash in on market 
transactions. 
 

There were no shares held in Armour Energy Ltd by key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 
2010. 
 

There were no shares held nominally at 30 June 2011 (2010: nil). 
 

Shareholdings of key management personnel in Archer Resources Ltd (including indirect holdings) 
 

Current Year Balance 
1 July 2010 

Granted as 
Compensation 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change# 
Other 

Balance 
30 June 2011 

      
Directors      
William Stubbs - - - - - 
Nicholas Mather - - - - - 
Brian Moller - - - 100,000 100,000 
Vince Mascolo - - - 100,000 100,000 
Other Key Management 
Personnel 

     

Greg Runge - - - 100,000 100,000 
Karl Schlobohm - - - - - 
Neil Wilkins - - - - - 
Priy Jayasuriya1 - - - - - 
Carlie Rogers2 - - - - - 

Total - - - 300,000 300,000 
1 Priy Jayasuriya was appointed on 22 November 2010. 
2 Carlie Rogers was appointed on 13 September 2010. 
#Net Change Other includes the balance of shares held on appointment / resignation, and shares acquired and sold for cash in on market 
transactions. 
 

There were no shares held in Archer Resources Ltd by key management personnel during the year ended 30 
June 2010. 
 

There were no shares held nominally at 30 June 2011 (2010: nil). 

Shareholdings of key management personnel in Navaho Gold Ltd (including indirect holdings) 
 

There were no shares held by key management personnel up to the period of Navaho Gold Ltd exiting the 

Group on 11 April 2011 (2010: nil). 

There were no shares held nominally at 30 June 2011 (2010: nil).  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 5. Key Management Personnel (continued) 
 
(b) Equity Instruments (continued) 
 
Option holdings of key management personnel in D’Aguilar Gold Ltd (including indirect holdings) 
 

Current Year 
Balance 1 
July 2010 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change# 
Other 

Balance 30 
June 2011 

Total 
Vested 

Total Vested 
and 

Exercisable 

Total Vested 
and 

Unexercisable 

Directors         
William Stubbs - 3,500,000 - - 3,500,000 3,500,000 3,500,000 - 
Nicholas Mather 2,000,000 6,500,000 - (2,000,000) 6,500,000 6,500,000 6,500,000 - 
Brian Moller 500,000 3,500,000 - (500,000) 3,500,000 3,500,000 3,500,000 - 
Vince Mascolo 500,000 2,500,000 - (500,000) 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 - 
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel 

        

Greg Runge - 1,250,000 - - 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 - 
Karl Schlobohm 3,000,000 2,500,000 (2,000,000) (1,000,000) 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 - 
Neil Wilkins - 1,250,000 - - 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 - 
Priy Jayasuriya1 - 1,250,000 - - 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 - 
Carlie Rogers2 - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 - 

Total 6,000,000 24,750,000 (2,000,000) (4,000,000) 24,750,000 24,750,000 24,750,000 - 
1 Priy Jayasuriya was appointed on 22 November 2010. 
2 Carlie Rogers was appointed on 13 September 2010. 
# Net Change Other relates to options that expired during the year. 

 

Previous Year 
Balance 1 
July 2009 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change# 
Other 

Balance 30 
June 2010 

Total 
Vested 

Total Vested 
and 

Exercisable 

Total Vested 
and 

Unexercisable 

Directors         
Nicholas Mather 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 - 
William Stubbs1 - - - - - - - - 
Brian Moller 500,000 - - - 500,000 500,000 500,000 - 
Vince Mascolo 500,000 - - - 500,000 500,000 500,000 - 
Ian Levy2 500,000 - - (500,000) - - - - 
         
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel 

        

Greg Runge - - - - - - - - 
Karl Schlobohm 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 - 
Neil Wilkins - - - - - - - - 

Total 6,500,000 - - (500,000) 6,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000 - 
1 William Stubbs was appointed on 26 November 2009. 
2 Ian Levy retired on 25 November 2009. 
# Net Change Other relates to options held upon resignation or retirement. 
 
There were no share options held nominally at 30 June 2011 (2010: nil). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 5. Key Management Personnel (continued) 
 
(b) Equity Instruments (continued) 
 
Option holdings of key management personnel in AusNiCo Ltd (including indirect holdings) 
 

Current Year 
Balance 1 
July 2010 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change# 
Other 

Balance 30 
June 2011 

Total 
Vested 

Total Vested 
and 

Exercisable 

Total Vested 
and 

Unexercisable 

Directors         
Nicholas Mather 500,000 - - 90,000 590,000 590,000 590,000 - 
William Stubbs - - - 35,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 - 
Brian Moller 500,000 - - 50,000 550,000 550,000 550,000 - 
Vince Mascolo 500,000 - - 20,000 520,000 520,000 520,000 - 
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel 

        

Greg Runge - - - - - - - - 
Karl Schlobohm - 400,000 - 10,000 410,000 410,000 410,000 - 
Neil Wilkins - - - - - - - - 
Priy Jayasuriya1 - - - - - - - - 
Carlie Rogers2 - - - - - - - - 

Total 1,500,000 400,000 - 205,000 2,105,000 2,105,000 2,105,000 - 
1 Priy Jayasuriya was appointed on 22 November 2010. 
2 Carlie Rogers was appointed on 13 September 2010. 
# Net Change Other relates to options that expired during the year and options issued in capacity of shareholders on similar terms and 
conditions to other shareholders. 

 

Previous Year 
Balance 1 
July 2009 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change 
Other 

Balance 30 
June 2010 

Total 
Vested 

Total Vested 
and 

Exercisable 

Total Vested 
and 

Unexercisable 

Directors         
Nicholas Mather 500,000 - - - 500,000 500,000 500,000 - 
William Stubbs1 - - - - - - - - 
Brian Moller 500,000 - - - 500,000 500,000 500,000 - 
Vince Mascolo 500,000 - - - 500,000 500,000 500,000 - 
Ian Levy2 - - - - - - - - 
         
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel 

        

Greg Runge - - - - - - - - 
Karl Schlobohm - - - - - - - - 
Neil Wilkins - - - - - - - - 

Total 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 - 
1 William Stubbs was appointed on 26 November 2009. 
2 Ian Levy retired on 25 November 2009. 

 
There were no share options held nominally at 30 June 2011 (2010: nil). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 5. Key Management Personnel (continued) 
 
(b) Equity Instruments (continued) 
 
Option holdings of key management personnel in Armour Energy Ltd (including indirect holdings) 
 

Current Year 
Balance 1 
July 2010 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change# 
Other 

Balance 30 
June 2011 

Total 
Vested 

Total Vested 
and 

Exercisable 

Total Vested 
and 

Unexercisable 

Directors         
Nicholas Mather - 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 - 
William Stubbs - 500,000 - 62,500 562,500 562,500 562,500 - 
Brian Moller - 500,000 - 87,500 587,500 587,500 587,500 - 
Vince Mascolo - 500,000 - 12,500 512,500 512,500 512,500 - 
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel 

        

Greg Runge - - - 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 - 
Karl Schlobohm - 500,000 - 43,750 543,750 543,750 543,750 - 
Neil Wilkins - - - 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 - 
Priy Jayasuriya1 - - - - - - - - 
Carlie Rogers2 - 500,000 - 25,000 525,000 525,000 525,000 - 

Total - 4,000,000 - 556,250 4,556,250 4,556,250 4,556,250 - 
1 Priy Jayasuriya was appointed on 22 November 2010. 
2 Carlie Rogers was appointed on 13 September 2010. 
# Net Change Other relates to options held on appointment/resignation, and options issued in capacity of shareholders on similar terms and 
conditions to other shareholders. 

 
There were no share options held in Armour Energy Ltd by key management personnel during the year ended 30 
June 2010. 
 
There were no share options held nominally at 30 June 2011 (2010: nil). 

Option holdings of key management personnel in Archer Resources Ltd (including indirect holdings) 
 

Current Year 
Balance 1 
July 2010 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change 
Other 

Balance 30 
June 2011 

Total 
Vested 

Total Vested 
and 

Exercisable 

Total Vested 
and 

Unexercisable 

Directors         
Nicholas Mather - - - - - - - - 
William Stubbs - - - - - - - - 
Brian Moller - - - - - - - - 
Vince Mascolo - - - - - - - - 
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel 

        

Greg Runge - - - - - - - - 
Karl Schlobohm - 300,000 - - 300,000 300,000 300,000 - 
Neil Wilkins - - - - - - - - 
Priy Jayasuriya1 - - - - - - - - 
Carlie Rogers2 - 300,000 - - 300,000 300,000 300,000 - 

Total - 600,000 - - 600,000 600,000 600,000 - 
1 Priy Jayasuriya was appointed on 22 November 2010. 
2 Carlie Rogers was appointed on 13 September 2010. 
 
There were no share options held in Archer Resources Ltd by key management personnel during the year ended 
30 June 2010. 
 
There were no share options held nominally at 30 June 2011 (2010: nil). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 5. Key Management Personnel (continued) 
 
(b) Equity Instruments (continued) 
 
Option holdings of key management personnel in Navaho Gold Ltd (including indirect holdings) 
 

Current Year 
Balance 1 
July 2010 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change# 
Other 

Balance 30 
June 2011 

Total 
Vested 

Total Vested 
and 

Exercisable 

Total Vested 
and 

Unexercisable 

Directors         
Nicholas Mather - 750,000 - (750,000) - - - - 
William Stubbs - - - - - - - - 
Brian Moller - 500,000 - (500,000) - - - - 
Vince Mascolo - - - - - - - - 
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel 

        

Greg Runge - - - - - - - - 
Karl Schlobohm - 500,000 - (500,000) - - - - 
Neil Wilkins - - - - - - - - 
Priy Jayasuriya1 - - - - - - - - 
Carlie Rogers2 - - - - - - - - 

Total - 1,750,000 - (1,750,000) - - - - 
1 Priy Jayasuriya was appointed on 22 November 2010. 
2 Carlie Rogers was appointed on 13 September 2010. 
# Net Change Other relates to options held when Navaho Gold Ltd exited the Group on 11 April 2011. 

 
There were no share options held in Navaho Gold Ltd by key management personnel during the year ended 30 
June 2010. 
 
There were no share options held nominally at 30 June 2011 (2010: nil). 

(c) Loans to Key Management Personnel 
 
There were no loans to Directors or other key management personnel during the year (2010: nil). 
 
(d) Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel 
 
Other transactions with Directors are set out in Note 26.  There were no other transactions or balances with 
key management personnel during the year (2010: nil). 
 
 
Note 6. Dividends and Franking Credits 
 
There were no dividends paid or recommended during the year or since the end of the year.  There are no 
franking credits available to shareholders of the Company. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 

  2011  2010 
  $  $ 
Note 7. Auditors Remuneration     
Amounts paid/payable to the auditor of the parent of 
the Group for: 

    

Audit and review of the financial reports of the Group  129,765  82,782 
Other assurance related services  22,825  - 
Taxation services  28,250  39,124 

  180,840  121,906 

     
Note 8. Earnings per Share (EPS) 
 
(a) Earnings     
Earnings used to calculate basic and diluted earnings per 
share 

  
(3,995,362) 

  
3,691,248 

     
  Number of Shares  Number of Shares 
(b) Weighted average number of shares     
Used in calculating basic EPS  322,453,859  269,209,814 
Weighted average number of dilutive options  -  - 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and 
potential ordinary shares, used in calculating dilutive EPS 

  
322,453,859 

  
269,209,814 

 
Options are not considered dilutive as they were out of the money.  Options may become dilutive in the 
future. 
  2011  2010 
  $  $ 
Note 9. Cash and Cash Equivalents     
Cash at bank  3,269,984  899,726 
Short term deposits  11,531,490  - 

  14,801,474  899,726 

     
Note 10. Trade and Other Receivables     
Trade receivables  193,125  149,693 
GST receivable  163,487  59,186 
Convertible note  -  1,000,000 
Share issue proceeds receivable  -  423,000 

  356,612  1,631,879 

 
The convertible note was issued by Solomon Gold plc as part of the consideration for its acquisition of 
Central Minerals Pty Ltd (refer to Note 32). Interest was receivable at 10% per annum. The loan note was 
repaid 19 November 2010. Share proceeds receivable related to shares issued 25 June 2010 pursuant to a 
share purchase plan and private placement (refer to Note 20). Proceeds were received after 30 June 2010.  
 
The receivables were not exposed to foreign exchange risk.  No receivables were impaired at 30 June 2011 
(2010: nil). Past due receivables were as follows: 
 

 
 

2011 2010 
Total Amount 

Impaired 
Amount not 

impaired 
Total Amount 

Impaired 
Amount not 

impaired 
 $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Not past due 356,612 - 356,612 1,579,982 - 1,579,982 
Past due 30 days - - - - - - 
Past due 30-45 days - - - 43,347 - 43,347 
Past due 45-60 days - - - - - - 
Past due >60 days - - - 8,550 - 8,550 

Total 356,612 - 356,612 1,631,879 - 1,631,879 
 

All receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are with long standing clients who have a good credit 
history with the entity.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 11.  Other Financial Assets 
 

Current 
2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss:   
Listed investments, at fair value - - 
Movements in financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss 

  

Opening balance at 1 July - 675,308 
Additions – sale of subsidiary - 3,922,145 
Fair Value adjustment through profit or loss - (973,868) 
Transfer to available for sale financial assets - (3,623,585) 

 - - 

   
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprised an investment in the ordinary issued capital 
of Solomon Gold plc, listed on the London Stock Exchanges Alternative Investment Market (“AIM”). 
 
As at 30 June 2010, the Group has reclassified its investment in Solomon Gold plc from a financial asset at 
fair value through the profit and loss to an available for sale financial asset. The directors are of the 
opinion that this reclassification better reflects the increase in D‟Aguilar Gold‟s shareholding from one of a 
minor shareholder to a significant shareholder. 
 

Non-Current 
2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Available for sale financial assets (refer below) 9,531,766 3,623,585 
Cash on deposit held as security 314,000 314,000 
Security bonds 425,340 331,331 

 10,271,106 4,268,916 

Movements in available for sale financial assets   
Opening balance at 1 July 3,623,585 - 
Additions 457,015 - 
Fair Value adjustment through other comprehensive income 5,451,166 - 
Transfer to available for sale financial assets - 3,623,585 

 9,531,766 3,623,585 

 
Available for sale financial assets comprise an investment in the ordinary issued capital of Solomon Gold 
plc, listed on the London Stock Exchanges Alternative Investment Market (“AIM”) and an investment in the 
ordinary issued capital of Lions Gate Metals Inc, listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”). 
 
Cash on deposit held as security is held in a term deposit account restricted under a bond with the 
Department of Natural Resources and Mining as security for rehabilitation works required. 
 
Security bonds are held with the Department of Natural Resources and Mining as security for rehabilitation 
works required. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 

 
Note 12. Controlled Entities and Transactions with Non-Controlling Interests 
 

 (a) Controlled Entities Country of 
Incorporation 

Percentage Owned (%) 
2011 2010 

Parent entity:    
D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd Australia   
Subsidiaries of D’Aguilar Gold Ltd:    
Alexander Diamonds Pty Ltd1 Australia 100% - 
Archer Resources Ltd2 Australia 67% 100% 
Armour Energy Ltd Australia 51% 100% 
AusNiCo Ltd Australia 53% 80% 
Barlyne Mining Pty Ltd2 Australia 67% 100% 
Coolgarra Minerals Pty Ltd1 Australia 100% - 
Eastern Exploration Pty Ltd3 Australia 86% 86% 
Hartz Rare Earths Pty Ltd1 Australia 100% - 
Pinnacle Gold Pty Ltd1 Australia 100% - 
Mingoola Gold Pty Ltd4 Australia - 58% 
Navaho Gold Ltd4 Australia - 58% 
Quiver Coal Pty Ltd1 Australia 100% - 
IronRidge Resources Ltd3 Australia 86% 86% 
Ripple Resources Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
Tinco Pty Ltd1 Australia 92% - 
 
1 These are new companies established by D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd during the year. 
2 Archer Resources Ltd is the immediate parent of Barlyne Mining Pty Ltd.  The company is wholly owned 
and directly held by Archer Resources Ltd and indirectly by D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd.  
3 IronRidge Resources Ltd is the immediate parent of Eastern Exploration Pty Ltd.  The company is wholly 
owned and directly held by IronRidge Resources Ltd and indirectly by D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd. 
4 Navaho Gold Ltd is the immediate parent of Mingoola Gold Pty Ltd. The Navaho Gold group exited the 
D‟Aguilar Gold group during the year. Refer to note 32 for details. 
 
(b) Transactions with Non-Controlling Interests 
 
In October 2010, 80% owned subsidiary, AusNiCo Ltd, raised $4m through an IPO. The IPO further diluted 
D‟Aguilar Gold‟s shareholding to 53% and led to a further 27% of the ordinary share capital being owned by 
non-controlling interests. 
 
In October 2010, 58% owned subsidiary, Navaho Gold Ltd, raised $1m in seed capital and converted its loan 
of $610,000 owing to D‟Aguilar into equity. The net result of these two transactions led to a further 1% of 
the ordinary share capital being owned by non-controlling interests. 
 
In February 2011, 100% owned subsidiary, Archer Resources Ltd, raised $2m in seed capital. The seed 
capital raising diluted D‟Aguilar Gold‟s shareholding to 67% and led to 33% of the ordinary share capital 
being owned by non-controlling interests. 
 
In March & April 2011, 100% owned subsidiary, Armour Energy Ltd, raised $14m in seed capital. The seed 
capital raising diluted D‟Aguilar Gold‟s shareholding to 51% and led to 49% of the ordinary share capital 
being owned by non-controlling interests. 
 
The effect of changes in the ownership interest of the above subsidiaries on the equity attributable to 
owners of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd during the year is summarised as follows: 
 

 
2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Proceeds received from issue of shares to non-controlling 
interests net of costs 20,055,523 637,125 
(Increase)/decrease in non-controlling interests share of 
subsidiary net assets (10,242,390) 94,314 

Excess of consideration received recognized in the change in 
proportionate interest reserve 9,813,133 731,439 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 13. Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method 
 

Name Country 
of 

incorpor
ation 

Principle 
Activity 

Shares Ownership 
2011 
% 

Interest 
2010 

% 

Carrying 
2011 

$ 

Amount 
2010 

$ 

Mt Isa 
Metals Ltd 

Australia Mineral 
Exploration 

ORD 33% 48% 7,842,408 8,500,000 

Navaho 
Gold Ltd 

Australia Mineral 
Exploration 

ORD 29% - 3,246,272 - 

      11,088,680 8,500,000 

 
(A) Movements during the year in equity accounted 
investments  

2011 2010 
$ $ 

    
Balance at beginning of year  8,500,000 5,750,000 
Fair value of investment on initial recognition  5,410,553 - 
Additional investment  300,000 - 
Share of associates losses after income tax  (906,503) (979,450) 
Impairment  (2,098,280) - 
Reversal of impairment  131,356 3,729,450 
Loss on deemed disposal  (248,446) - 

Balance at end of year  11,088,680 8,500,000 

 
The fair value of investment on initial recognition was the fair value of the investment retained in Navaho 
Gold Ltd at the date the Company lost control of the former subsidiary. In accordance with Accounting 
Standard AASB 127, this fair value is regarded as the cost on initial recognition of the investment in associate. 
 
Impairment relates to the investment in Navaho Gold Limited. On initial recognition the share price of Navaho 
Gold was $0.20. At 30 June 2011 the share price had fallen to $0.12. The reversal of impairment relates to the 
investment in Mt Isa Metals Ltd. The investment was impaired in 2009 due to a decrease in the quoted share 
price. During 2010 and 2011 the share price has recovered beyond that at initial recognition leading to the 
reversal of the impairment. 
 
The loss on deemed disposal was the loss recognised when the Group‟s interest in Mt Isa Metals Ltd was diluted 
due to a rights issue in which D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd did not participate.  
 
(B) Fair value of investments in associates with 
published price quotations 

2011 2010 
$ $ 

   
Fair Value of investment in Mt Isa Metals Ltd 18,200,000 8,500,000 
Fair Value of investment in Navaho Gold Ltd 3,246,272 - 

 21,446,272 8,500,000 

 
(C) Summarised financial information of associates 
 
The Group's share of the results of its principal associates and its aggregated assets (including goodwill) and 
liabilities are as follows: 
 

 Ownership 
interest 

% 

Assets 
 
$ 

Liabilities 
 
$ 

Revenues 
 
$ 

Profit/loss 
 
$ 

2011      
Mt Isa Metals Ltd 33% 8,015,918 282,523 103,783 (840,503) 
Navaho Gold Ltd 29% 2,792,199 72,619 24,883 (66,000) 

  10,808,117 355,142 128,666 (906,503) 

2010      
Mt Isa Metals Ltd 48% 2,476,497 211,106 22,926 (979,450) 

  2,476,497 211,106 22,926 (979,450) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 14. Property Plant and Equipment 
 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
Land at cost 385,000 385,000 

   
Freehold building at cost 59,639 54,535 
Accumulated depreciation (22,369) (20,879) 

 37,270 33,656 

   
Plant and equipment at cost 336,053 318,204 
Accumulated depreciation (294,103) (286,613) 

 41,950 31,591 

   
Site infrastructure at cost 2,443,532 2,443,532 
Accumulated depreciation (2,443,532) (2,443,532) 

 - - 

   
Motor vehicles at cost 320,655 224,363 
Accumulated depreciation  (173,152) (172,242) 

 147,503 52,121 

   
Computers and office equipment at cost 120,442 108,830 
Accumulated depreciation (105,706) (91,962) 

 14,736 16,868 

   
Furniture and fittings at cost 5,811 5,811 
Accumulated depreciation (5,253) (4,572) 

 558 1,239 

   

 627,017 520,475 

 
Movements in carrying amounts 
 

2011 

Land Freehold 
Building 

Plant & 
Equipment 

Motor 
Vehicles 

Computers 
& office 

equipment 

Furniture 
& 

Fittings 

Total 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Balance at 
the beginning 
of the year 385,000 33,656 31,591 52,121 16,868 1,239 520,475 
Additions - 5,104 17,849 126,532 11,612 - 161,097 
Disposals - - - - - - - 
Depreciation 
expenses - (1,490) (7,490) (31,150) (13,744) (681) (54,555) 

Carrying 
amount at the 
end of the 
year 385,000 37,270 41,950 147,503 14,736 558 627,017 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 14. Property Plant and Equipment (continued) 
 
2010 Land Freehold 

Building 
Plant & 

Equipment 
Motor 

Vehicles 
Computers 

& office 
equipment 

Furniture 
& 

Fittings 

Total 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Balance at the 
beginning of the 
year 385,000 35,020 40,204 118,248 32,001 2,100 612,573 
Additions - - 1,453 - 3,325 - 4,778 
Asset disposed of 
on sale of 
subsidiary - - (4,430) (31,293) (192) - (35,915) 
Depreciation 
expenses - (1,364) (5,636) (34,834) (18,266) (861) (60,961) 

Carrying amount 
at the end of the 
year 385,000 33,656 31,591 52,121 16,868 1,239 520,475 

 
Assets Pledged as Security 

Motor Vehicles include the following amounts where the assets are 
secured under a finance lease: 

 
2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Leased Motor Vehicles   
Cost 154,081 115,302 
Accumulated Depreciation (65,262) (76,914) 

 88,819 38,388 

 

Note 15.  Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets  11,896,187 8,915,150 

    
Movements in carrying amounts    
Balance at the beginning of the year  8,915,150 9,264,505 
Additions – Acquisition of subsidiary  - 244,996 
Additions – Share-based payments  368,984 - 
Additions – Other  4,269,817 1,752,352 
Assets disposed on disposal of subsidiary  (1,450,585) (1,933,871) 
Written-off  (207,179) (412,832) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  11,896,187 8,915,150 

 
The recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on the 
successful development and commercial exploitation or, alternatively, sale of the respective areas of 
interest. 
 
Note 16. Other Assets 
Prepayments 332,000 105,391 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 17.  Trade and Other Payables  2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Current    
Trade payables  1,072,148 726,166 
Sundry payables and accrued expenses  326,000 193,686 
Employee benefits  260,288 107,178 

  1,658,436 1,027,030 

 
Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-60 day terms. 
 
Note 18. Other Financial Liabilities 
Current 
Lease Liabilities – Secured 14,141 15,219 

 14,141 15,219 

Non-Current 
Lease Liabilities – Secured  53,235 - 

 53,235 - 

 
Lease liabilities are secured over the leased assets to which they relate. 
 
Note 19. Provisions 
Non-current 
 

Site restoration  600,000 600,000 

    
 
The Group has conducted an extensive review of the environmental status of the Mining Leases with a view to 
making an assessment of the appropriate provision it should make for liabilities in respect of rehabilitation 
and restoration. In the course of this exercise, advice was received from different parties providing 
estimations on the potential costs for future rehabilitation and restoration. Based on this information, the 
Group has provided in respect of these restoration liabilities to $600,000. 
 
Note 20. Issued Capital    
  
324,202,760 (30 June 2010: 322,002,760) fully paid 
ordinary shares 

 
22,907,450 22,672,450 

Share issue costs  (1,021,467) (1,021,467) 

  21,885,983 21,650,983 

 
Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up the Company.  At shareholder 
meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each shareholder has 
one vote on show of hands. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 20. Issued Capital (continued) 
 
(a) Ordinary Shares  2011 

Number 
 2010 

Number 
2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
At 1 July   322,002,760  235,380,766 22,672,450 19,629,222 
1 September 2009 (1)  -  4,257,141 - 149,000 
7 September 2009 (2)  -  5,000,000 - 175,000 
7 October 2009 (3)  -  34,742,858 - 1,216,000 
19 February 2010 (4)  -  458,333 - 27,500 
25 June 2010 (5)  -  42,163,662 - 1,475,728 
1 December 2010 (6)  200,000  - 25,000 - 
30 April 2011 (7)  2,000,000  - 210,000 - 

At 30 June 2011  324,202,760  322,002,760 22,907,450 22,672,450 

 
(1) On 1 September 2009, 4,257,141 $0.035 ordinary shares were issued for cash pursuant to a private 
placement. 
(2) On 7 September 2009, 5,000,000 $0.035 ordinary shares were issued for cash pursuant to a private 
placement. 
(3) On 7 October 2009, 34,742,858 $0.035 ordinary shares were issued for cash pursuant to a private 
placement. 
(4) On 19 February 2010, 458,333 $0.06 ordinary shares were issued to an Executive as a bonus payment. 
(5) On 25 June 2010, 42,163,662 $0.035 ordinary shares were issued pursuant to a Share Purchase Plan and a 
private placement. $423,000 of the proceeds were received subsequent to 30 June 2010. 
(6) On 1 December 2010, 200,000 $0.125 ordinary shares were issued to an Executive as a bonus payment.  
(7) On 30 April 2011, 1,000,000 $0.09 ordinary shares and 1,000,000 $0.12 ordinary shares were issued upon 
the exercise of share options. 
 
(b) Options 
 
As at 30 June 2011, there were 28,000,000 unissued ordinary shares of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd under option, held as 
follows: 
 
Options on Issue in D’Aguilar Gold Ltd Number Exercise 

Price 
Expiry 

Unlisted director options 16,000,000 $0.28 24/11/13 
Unlisted employee options 12,000,000 $0.28 28/02/14 

 
(c) Capital Management 
 

Management controls the capital of the Group in order to provide capital growth to shareholders and ensure 
the Group can fund its operations and continue as a going concern.  The Group‟s capital comprises equity as 
shown on the statement of financial position.  There are no externally imposed capital requirements.  
Management effectively manages the Group‟s capital by assessing the Group‟s financial risk and adjusting its 
capital structure in response to changes in these risks and the market.  These responses include the 
management of share issues. 
 
There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the Group since 
the prior year. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 21.  Reserves  
Nature and Purpose of Reserves 

 
(i) Share-based Payments Reserve 
 
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise: 

 the grant date fair value of options issued to employees and other service providers; and  

 the grant date fair value of shares issued to employees. 
 

(ii) Change in Proportionate Interest Reserve 
 
The change in proportionate interest reserve is used to recognise differences between the amount by which 
non-controlling interests are adjusted and any consideration paid or received which may arise as a result of 
transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control. 
 
(iii) Available-for-Sale Financial Assets Reserve 
 
Changes in the fair value and exchange differences arising on translation of investments, such as equities, 
classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are recognised in other comprehensive income, as described in 
note 1(g) and accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. Amounts are reclassified to profit or loss when 
the associated assets are sold or impaired.  
 
Note 22.  Accumulated Losses 
 
 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Accumulated losses attributable to members of 
D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd at beginning of the financial year (6,776,590) (10,454,972) 
Profit/(loss) for the year (3,995,362) 3,691,248 
Transfer from share-based payments reserve 452,547 - 
Other - (12,866) 

Accumulated losses attributable to members of 
D’Aguilar Gold Ltd at the end of the financial year (10,319,405) (6,776,590) 

 
Note 23.  Commitments for Expenditure 
 
(a) Future Exploration 
 
The Group has certain obligations to expend minimum amounts on exploration in tenement areas.  These 
obligations may be varied from time to time and are expected to be fulfilled in the normal course of 
operations of the Group. 
 
The commitments to be undertaken are as follows: 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Payable within one year 2,745,996 2,547,225 
Payable between one and five years 11,937,983 4,269,907 

 14,683,979 6,817,132 

 
To keep the exploration permits in good standing, work programs should meet certain minimum expenditure 
requirements.  If the minimum expenditure requirements are not met, the Group has the option to negotiate 
new terms or relinquish the tenements.  The Group also has the ability to meet expenditure requirements by 
joint venture or farm in agreements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 

Note 23.  Commitments for Expenditure (continued) 
 
(b) Lease Expenditure Commitments 
 

Operating Leases (non-cancellable)  2011  2010 
  $  $ 

Minimum lease payments     
- Not later than one year  173,388  237,860 
- Later than one year and not later than five years  -  363,933 
- Later than five years  -  - 

  173,388  601,793 

 
Operating leases relate to office premises. The terms of the operating leases range from 1 year to 3 years with 
no options to renew 
 
Finance Leases  2011  2010 
  $  $ 
Minimum lease payments     
- Not later than one year  20,346  15,568 
- Later than one year and not later than five years  62,281  - 
- Later than five years  -  - 

Total minimum lease payments  82,627  15,568 
- Future finance charges  (15,251)  (349) 

Lease liability  67,376  15,219 

     
- Current liability  14,141  15,219 
- Non-current liability  53,235  - 

  67,376  15,219 

 
 
Note 24.  Contingent Liabilities 
 
Contingent Liability – Solomon Gold plc warranties and indemnities (taxation matters only) 
 
In February 2006, in relation to the flotation of Solomon Gold plc, the Company entered into a Placing 
Agreement between Solomon Gold plc, D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd, the Directors of Solomon Gold Ltd and Williams de 
Broe Ltd (now Evolution Securities Ltd), the nominated advisor (NOMAD).  One of the conditions of the Placing 
Agreement for the London Stock Exchange Alternative Investment Market (“AIM”) is that D‟Aguilar Gold 
provides certain warranties and indemnities to Evolution Securities Ltd regarding certain information provided 
to Solomon Gold plc in the Admission Document.  This results in a contingent liability to a maximum value of 
£1.1m. The Placing Agreement formed part of the terms and conditions upon which Evolution Securities Ltd 
agreed to procure subscribers for shares in the initial public offering by Solomon Gold plc.  The warranties and 
indemnities expired on 10 February 2008 for non-taxation matters and will expire on 10 February 2012 for 
taxation matters. 
 
The Directors are satisfied that there are no other significant contingent liabilities. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 

Note 25. Share-Based Payments 
 
D’Aguilar Gold Ltd Options 
 

On  24  November 2010,  16,000,000  D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd  share  options  were  granted  to  Directors  under the 
Employee Share Option Plan and following approval granted by shareholders.  The options are to take up one 
ordinary share in D‟Aguilar Gold at a price of 28 cents each.  The options vested immediately and are due to 
expire on 24 November 2013. A $1,020,313 value was calculated using the Black Scholes valuation methodology 
(refer below). 
 
On  28  February 2011,  12,000,000  D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd  share  options  were  granted  to  employees under the 
Employee Share Option Plan.  The options are to take up one ordinary share in D‟Aguilar Gold at a price of 28 
cents each.  The options vested immediately and are due to expire on 28 February 2014. A $1,073,414 value 
was calculated using the Black Scholes valuation methodology (refer below). 
 
Movements in a number of options are as follows: 
 
 2011 2010 

No. of 
Options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
$ 

No. of 
Options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
$ 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 6,300,000 $0.20 6,800,000 $0.20 
Granted 28,000,000 $0.28 - - 
Forfeited - - (500,000) $0.27 
Exercised (2,000,000) $0.11 - - 
Expired (4,300,000) $0.25 - - 

Outstanding at year-end 28,000,000 $0.28 6,300,000 $0.20 

Exercisable at year-end 28,000,000 $0.28 5,300,000 $0.21 

 
The exercise price of options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.28 (2010:$0.09 to $0.275). 
 
The weighted average remaining contractual life of the options was 2.5 years (2010: 0.9 years). 
 
The share price on the date of exercise of the 2,000,000 options exercised during the year was $0.16. 
 
All options on issue will settle for one share each when exercised. 
 
AusNiCo Ltd Options 
 

On  1  September 2010,  3,100,000  AusNiCo Ltd  share  options  were  granted  to  Directors  and  employees 
under the Employee Share Option Plan.  The options are to take up one ordinary share in AusNiCo at a price of 
20 cents each.  The options vested immediately and are due to expire on 31 July 2012. A $328,787 value was 
calculated using the Black Scholes valuation methodology (refer below). 
 
Movements in the number of options are as follows: 
 
 2011 2010 

No. of 
Options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
$ 

No. of 
Options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
$ 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 2,000,000 $0.30 2,000,000 $0.30 
Granted 3,100,000 $0.20 - - 
Forfeited - - - - 
Exercised - - - - 
Expired - - - - 

Outstanding at year-end 5,100,000 $0.24 2,000,000 $0.30 

Exercisable at year-end 5,100,000 $0.24 2,000,000 $0.30 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 25.  Share-Based Payments (continued) 
 
AusNiCo Ltd Options (continued) 
 
The range of exercise prices of options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.20 to $0.30 (2010:$0.30).The 
weighted average remaining contractual life of the options was 2.2 years (2010: 3.4 years). 
 
All options on issue will settle for one share each when exercised.  
 
Armour Energy Ltd Options 
 
On 29 November 2010, 10,900,000 Armour Energy Ltd share options were granted to employees under the 
Employee Share Option Plan.  The options are to take up one ordinary share in Armour Energy at a price of 50 
cents each.  The options vested immediately and are due to expire on 31 August 2014. A $132,883 value was 
calculated using the Black Scholes valuation methodology (refer below). 
 
Movements in the number of options are as follows: 
 
 2011 2010 

No. of 
Options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
$ 

No. of 
Options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
$ 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - - - 
Granted 10,900,000 $0.50 - - 
Forfeited - - - - 
Exercised - - - - 
Expired - - - - 

Outstanding at year-end 10,900,000 $0.50 - - 

Exercisable at year-end 10,900,000 $0.50 - - 

 
The exercise price of options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.50 (2010: $nil).  The weighted average 
remaining contractual life of the options was 3.2 years (2010: nil). 
 
All options on issue will settle for one share each when exercised.  
 
Archer Resources Ltd Options 
 
On 30 June 2011, 4,500,000 Archer Resources share options were granted to employees under the Employee 
Share Option Plan.  The options are to take up one ordinary share in Archer Resources at a price of 20 cents 
each.  The options vested immediately and are due to expire on 31 December 2014.  Amounts of $116,361 and 
$132,984, calculated using the Black Scholes valuation methodology (refer below), were treated as a share 
based payment expense and costs associated with exploration activity in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Statement of Financial Position, respectively. 
 
On 15 December 2010, 7,500,000 Archer Resources share options were granted to Blackwood Capital.  The 
options are to take up one ordinary share in Archer Resources at a price of 20 cents each.  The options vested 
immediately and are due to expire on 31 December 2014.  An amount of $418,058, calculated using the Black 
Scholes valuation methodology (refer below), was treated as a capital raising cost by the subsidiary. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 25.  Share-Based Payments (continued) 
 
Archer Resources Ltd Options (continued) 
 
Movements in the number of options are as follows: 
 
 2011 2010 

No. of 
Options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
$ 

No. of 
Options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
$ 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - - - 
Granted 12,000,000 $0.20 - - 
Forfeited - - - - 
Exercised - - - - 
Expired - - - - 

Outstanding at year-end 12,000,000 $0.20 - - 

Exercisable at year-end 12,000,000 $0.20 - - 

 
The exercise price of options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.20 (2010: $nil).  The weighted average 
remaining contractual life of the options was 3.5 years (2010: nil). 
 
All options on issue will settle for one share each when exercised.  
 
Navaho Gold Ltd Options 
 
On 9 September 2010, 7,000,000 Navaho Gold share options were granted to the vendors of Mingoola Gold Pty 
Ltd.  The options are to take up one ordinary share in Navaho Gold at a price of 20 cents each.  The options 
vested immediately and are due to expire on 31 December 2013.  An amount of $91,000 calculated using the 
Black Scholes valuation methodology (refer below), was treated as exploration and evaluation costs in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 
 
On 9 September 2010, 3,500,000 Navaho Gold share options were granted to employees under the employee 
share option plan.  The options are to take up one ordinary share in Navaho Gold at a price of 20 cents each.  
The options vested immediately and are due to expire on 31 December 2012.  Amounts of $261,000 and 
$145,000, calculated using the Black Scholes valuation methodology (refer below), were treated as a share 
based payment expense and costs associated with exploration activity in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Statement of Financial Position, respectively. 
 
Movements in the number of options while a member of the Group are as follows: 
 

 2011 
No. 

2011 
WAEP 

2010 
No. 

2010 
WAEP 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - - - 
Granted 10,500,000 $0.20 - - 
Forfeited - - - - 
Exercised - - - - 
Expired - - - - 

Outstanding on exit from the Group 10,500,000 $0.20 - - 

     
Exercisable on exit from the Group 10,500,000 $0.20 - - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 25.  Share-Based Payments (continued) 
 
Fair Value 
The fair values of options granted in 2011 were calculated by using a Black-Scholes options pricing model 
applying the following inputs: 
 

 D’Aguilar Gold Ltd AusNiCo Ltd Armour 
Energy Ltd 

Archer 
Resources 

Ltd 
 Director Employee ESOP ESOP ESOP 

Weighted average exercise price $0.28 $0.28 $0.20 $0.50 $0.20 
Weighted average life of the 
option 3 years 3 years 1.9 years 3.8 years 3.5 years 
Underlying share price $0.13 $0.17 $0.20 $0.044 $0.10 
Expected share price volatility 100% 96.6% 100% 100% 100% 
Risk free interest rate 5.17% 5.12% 4.52% 5.11% 4.76% 
Number of options issued 16,000,000 12,000,000 3,100,000 10,900,000 4,500,000 
Fair value (black-scholes) per 
option $0.0638 $0.0895 $0.1061 $0.0122 $0.0554 

Total value of options issued $1,020,313 $1,073,414 $328,787 $132,883 $249,345 

 
 Archer 

Resources 
Ltd 

Navaho 
Gold Ltd 

Navaho Gold 
Ltd 

 Blackwood 
Capital 

 
ESOP 

Mingoola Gold 
Vendors 

Weighted average exercise price $0.20 $0.20 $0.20 
Weighted average life of the 
option 4 years 2.3 years 3.3 years 
Underlying share price $0.10 $0.20 $0.035 
Expected share price volatility 100% 100% 100% 
Risk free interest rate 5.26% 4.93% 4.93% 
Number of options issued 7,500,000 3,500,000 7,000,000 
Fair value (black-scholes) per 
option $0.0557 $0.1156 $0.0132 

Total value of options issued $418,058 $406,000 $91,000 

 
Historical volatility has been the basis for determining expected share price. The life of the options is based on 
the term to expiry. 
 
Reconciliation of Reserve Movements 
 
 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Opening balance at 1 July 2,021,193 1,984,461 
Total share-based payments expense 2,936,337 36,732 
Share-based payments capitalised to exploration and 
evaluation assets 368,984 - 
Share-based payments capitalised to share issue costs 418,058 - 
Transfer expired options to retained earnings (452,547) - 

Closing balance at 30 June 5,292,025 2,021,193 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 25.  Share-Based Payments (continued) 
 
Other Share-Based Payment Transactions 
 
During the year, 200,000 $0.125 ordinary shares (2010: 458,333 $0.06 ordinary shares) were granted to the 
Company Secretary of D‟Aguilar Gold as a bonus payment totaling $25,000 (2010: $25,000).  The share price 
used to measure fair value of the shares granted in each case was reflective of the prevailing market price of 
D‟Aguilar Gold shares on the ASX. This amount was expensed through profit or loss. 
 
Note 26. Related Party Disclosures 
 
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than 
those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 
 
(a) Parent and ultimate controlling entity 
 
(i) The parent entity and ultimate controlling entity is D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd which is incorporated in 

Australia.  The names and other information about subsidiaries are provided in Note 12. 
 
(b) Other Transactions with Directors and Director-Related Entities 

 
(i) The Company has entered into Performance Bonds in relation to a possible environmental liability of 

the Company for $600,000. On 31 December 2004, Samuel Capital Ltd, an entity associated with 
Nicholas Mather (a Director) and Vincent Mascolo (a Director) entered into Performance Bonds for 
$300,000 each in relation to the environmental liability of the Company. The Agreement was 
terminated with effect from 1 January 2010.  Under the terms of the Bonds, the Bondholders were 
entitled to an annual fee of 10% of the amount provided for under the Bond payable quarterly.  The 
fee payable for the year ended 30 June 2010 on the Bonds was $15,000 to Samuel Capital and $15,000 
to Vince Mascolo. No amount was owing at 30 June 2011 (2010: $nil). 
 

(ii) Mr Brian Moller (a Director), is a partner in the firm Hopgood Ganim Lawyers. Hopgood Ganim Lawyers 
were paid $508,196 (2010: $401,202) for the provision of legal services to the Group during the year.  
The services were based on normal commercial terms and conditions.  At 30 June 2011, there was a 
balance of $86,115 owing (2010: $296,384). 
 

(iii) For the year ended 30 June 2011, Samuel Holdings Pty Ltd were paid $100,000 (2010: $nil) for the 
provision of a financial guarantee to underpin Armour Energy Ltd‟s successful tender for tenements.  
The services were based on normal commercial terms and conditions.  The total amount outstanding 
at year end was $100,000 (2010: $nil). 

 
(c) Transactions with Associated Entities 

 
(i) D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd has a commercial agreement with Navaho Gold Ltd for the provision of resources 

and services including the provision of administration and exploration staff, its premises (for the 
purposes of conducting business operations), use of existing office furniture, equipment and certain 
stationery, together with general telephone, reception and other office facilities („„Services‟‟).  In 
consideration for the provision of the Services, Navaho Gold Ltd pays D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd a monthly 
management fee of $30,000 per month.  For the period from exit to 30 June 2011 $81,000 was paid or 
payable to D‟Aguilar Gold (2010: $nil) for the provision of the Services. The total amount receivable at 
year end was $32,521 (2010: $nil). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 27 Operating Segments 
 
Segment information 
 
Identification of reportable segments 
The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by 
the Board of Directors (chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and determining the 
allocation of resources. 
 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the 
Group‟s other components.  An operating segment‟s operating results are reviewed regularly by the chief 
operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 
 
Basis of accounting for purposes of reporting by operating segments 
 
(a) Accounting policies adopted 
Unless stated otherwise, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors, being the chief operating decision 
maker with respect to operating segments, are determined in accordance with accounting policies that are 
consistent to those adopted in the annual financial statements of the Group. 
 
(b) Inter-segment transactions 
Corporate charges are allocated to segments based on the segments‟ overall proportion of revenue generation 
within the Group. The Board of Directors believes this is representative of likely consumption of head office 
expenditure that should be used in assessing segment performance and cost recoveries. 
 
Inter-segment loans payable and receivable are initially recognised at the consideration received/to be 
received net of transaction costs. If inter-segment loans receivable and payable are not on commercial terms, 
these are not adjusted to fair value based on market interest rates. This policy represents a departure from 
that applied to the statutory financial statements. 
 
(c) Segment assets 
Where an asset is used across multiple segments, the asset is allocated to that segment that receives majority 
economic value from that asset. In the majority of instances, segment assets are clearly identifiable on the 
basis of their nature and physical location. 
 
 (d) Unallocated items 
The following items of revenue, expenses and assets are not allocated to operating segments as they are not 
considered part of the core operations of any segment: 

 

 impairment of assets and other non-recurring items of revenue or expense 

 income tax expense 

 current and deferred tax  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 

Note 27. Operating Segments (continued) 
 

Segment reporting 
 
The Group reports information to the Board of Directors along company lines.  That is, the financial position of D‟Aguilar and each of its subsidiary companies is reported 
discreetly, together with an aggregated Group total.  Accordingly, each company within the Group that meets or exceeds the relevant threshold tests is separately 
disclosed below.  The financial information of the subsidiaries that do not exceed the relevant thresholds outlined above, and are therefore not reported separately, is 
aggregated and disclosed as Other. 
 

30 June 2011 D’Aguilar Gold AusNiCo Armour Archer Other Total 
 $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Segment Performance       
Revenue       
External revenue 1,159,648 - - - - 1,159,648 
Interest revenue 95,237 74,032 160,198 13,821 2,749 346,037 
Inter-segment revenue 1,258,003 3,574 - - - 1,261,577 

Total segment revenue 2,512,888 77,606 160,198 13,821 2,749 2,767,262 
       
Reconciliation of segment revenue to 
Group revenue and other income       
Reversal of impairment of investment 
in associate      131,356 
Elimination of intersegment revenue      (1,261,577) 
Gain on loss of control of subsidiary      4,482,171 

Total Group revenue and other 
income      6,119,212 

       
Segment net profit (loss) before tax (2,833,599) (1,184,056) (1,173,273) (342,063) (1,050,360) (6,583,351) 
Reconciliation of segment result to 
Group net profit (loss) before tax       
Reversal of impairment of investment 
in associate      131,356 
Impairment of investment in associate      (2,098,280) 
Gain on loss of control of subsidiary      4,482,171 
Loss on deemed disposal      (248,446) 
Share losses of associates      (906,503) 

Net profit (loss) before tax       (5,223,053) 

  



 
          

D‟Aguilar Gold Limited annual report for the year ended 30 June 2011 80 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 27. Operating Segments (continued) 
 
30 June 2010 D’Aguilar Gold AusNiCo Central Minerals Other Total 
 $ $ $ $ $ 
Segment Performance      
Revenue      
External revenue 80,203 1 - 204 80,408 
Inter-segment revenue - - 228,874 - 228,874 

Total segment revenue 80,203 1 228,874 204 309,282 
      
Reconciliation of segment revenue to Group 
revenue and other income      
Reversal of impairment of investment in associate     3,729,450 
Elimination of intersegment revenue     (228,874) 
Gain on loss of control of subsidiary     3,941,598 

Total Group revenue and other income     7,751,456 

      
Segment net profit (loss) before tax (2,484,575) (125,038) 69,888 (553,530) (3,093,255) 
Reconciliation of segment result to Group net 
profit (loss) before tax      
Reversal of impairment of investment in associate     3,729,450 
Gain on loss of control of subsidiary     3,941,598 
Share of loss of associate     (979,450) 

Net profit (loss) before tax     3,598,343 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 27 Operating Segments (continued) 
 
30 June 2011 D’Aguilar Gold AusNiCo Armour Archer Other Total 
 $ $ $ $ $ $ 
(ii) Segment Assets 35,677,721 6,032,162 13,101,153 5,529,356 2,956,603 63,296,995 
Reconciliation of segment assets to Group assets       
Inter-segment receivables eliminated      (13,511,488) 
Unallocated assets      - 

Total Group Assets      49,785,507 

       
Segment asset increases for the period       
- Exploration and evaluation expenditure 328,345 1,590,290 637,960 588,575 1,124,647 4,269,817 
- Property, plant and equipment - 39,632 55,680 65,785 - 161,097 
- Investments accounted for using the equity 

method 5,710,553 - - - - 5,710,553 
       

 
 
30 June 2010 D’Aguilar Gold AusNiCo Central Minerals Other Total 
 $ $ $ $ $ 
(ii) Segment Assets 25,196,611 3,388,991 - 6,672,748 35,258,350 
Reconciliation of segment assets to Group assets      
Inter-segment receivables eliminated     (10,416,813) 
Unallocated assets     - 

Total Group Assets     24,841,537 

      
Segment asset increases for the period      
- Exploration and evaluation expenditure 395,545 206,959 - 1,590,965 2,193,469 
- Property, plant and equipment 4,283 495 - - 4,778 

      

 

Investments in associates are allocated to the D‟Aguilar Gold operating segment as the investment is held by that Company. The share of losses of associates is disclosed as 

a reconciling item as this only occurs on consolidation. 

All assets are located in Australia.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 28.  Parent Company 
 
The Corporations Act requirement to prepare parent entity financial statements where consolidated financial 
statements are prepared has been removed and replaced by Regulation 2M.3.01 which requires  the following 
limited disclosure in regards to the parent entity (D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd).  The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the parent entity in accordance with the accounting policy 
described in Note 1(b). 
 
Parent Entity 2011 2010 

$ $ 
Current Assets 927,602 2,503,642 
Non-current Assets   
- Loans (intragroup receivables) 394,205 2,712,326 
- Security bonds 560,548 561,177 
- Property plant and equipment 457,990 455,474 
- Exploration and evaluation assets 1,957,184 1,628,839 
- Investment in Lions Gate Metals Inc 191,288 - 
- Investment in Solomon Gold plc 9,340,478 3,623,585 
- Investment in Mt. Isa Metals Ltd 18,200,000 8,500,000 
- Investment in Navaho Gold Ltd 3,246,272 795,229 
- Investment in AusNiCo Ltd 1,893,881 1,893,881 
- Investment in Armour Energy Ltd 7,536 1 
- Investment in Archer Resources Ltd 4,056,400 2,522,453 
- Investment in IronRidge Resources Ltd 1 1 
- Investment in other subsidiaries 10 3 

Total Non-current Assets 40,305,793 22,692,969 

Total Assets 41,233,395 25,196,611 

Current Liabilities 559,385 723,517 
Non-current liabilities 600,000 600,000 

Total Liabilities 1,159,385 1,323,517 

Net Assets 40,074,010 23,873,094 

   
Issued Capital 21,885,983 21,650,983 
Share-Based Payments Reserve 3,179,908 1,486,149 
Available-For-Sale Financial Assets Reserve 25,178,208 8,524,998 
Accumulated Losses (10,170,088) (7,789,036) 

Total Shareholder’s equity 40,074,010 23,873,094 

   
Profit/(loss) for the year (2,833,599) 1,413,582 

   
Total comprehensive income for the year 13,868,610 3,749,486 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 28.  Parent Company (continued) 
 
At 30 June 2011, the Company‟s investments in each of its controlled entities, associates and available for sale 
assets are as follows: 
 
Investment Number of Shares Number of Options 

/ Warrants 
Share price# 

 (unlisted)  
Lions Gate Metals Inc1 300,000 150,000 C$0.66 

Solomon Gold plc 35,274,477 - £0.175 

Mt. Isa Metals Ltd 52,000,000 - $0.35 

Navaho Gold Ltd2 27,052,267 17,428,667 $0.12 

AusNiCo Ltd3 58,850,000 20,000,000 $0.06 

Armour Energy Ltd4 75,350,000 18,837,500 $0.20 

Archer Resources Ltd5 40,000,000 7,500,000 $0.10 

IronRidge Resources Ltd 50,000,000 - $0.10 

 
# Share price represents the market quoted price for listed investments at 30 June 2011 or the price at which 
the last round of financing was raised for unquoted investments. 
 
1 The Lions Gate Metal Inc (“LGM”) warrants allows the Company to take up one common share of LGM at a 

price of C$1.20 per share until 10 March 2012 and thereafter, at C$1.50 per share until 10 March 2013. 
2 The Navaho Gold Ltd (“NVG”) options allow the Company to take up one ordinary share in NVG at an exercise 

price of $0.20.  The options are fully vested and expire on 31 December 2013. 
3 The AusNiCo Ltd (“ANW”) options allow the Company to take up one ordinary share in ANW at an exercise 

price of $0.30.  The options are fully vested and expire on 19 November 2013. 
4 The Armour Energy Ltd (“Armour”) options allow the Company to take up one ordinary share in Armour at an 

exercise price of $0.50.  The options are fully vested and expire on 31 August 2014. 
5 The Archer Resources Ltd (“Archer”) options allow the Company to take up one ordinary share in Archer at an 

exercise price of $0.20.  The options are fully vested and expire on 31 December 2014. 

 
Guarantees 
 
No guarantees have been entered into by the parent entity in relation to debts of its subsidiaries. 
 
Contractual commitments 
 
There were no contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment entered into by 
the parent entity at 30 June 2011 (2010 - $nil). 
 
Contingent liabilities 
 
The parent entity has no contingent liabilities, other than as disclosed at Note 24. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 29. Acquisition of Subsidiary 
 
On 28 April 2010, Navaho Gold Pty Ltd acquired 100% of the issued capital in Mingoola Gold Pty Ltd, on a scrip-
for-scrip basis. 

 
The acquisition of Mingoola Gold Pty Ltd added four granted EPMs and 7 EPM applications covering 3,300km2 
near Texas in southern Queensland and Georgetown in northern Queensland. 
 
 Recognised on 

acquisition 
2010 

$ 
Cash and cash equivalents 4 
Exploration and evaluation assets 244,996 

 245,000 

Consideration paid  
Issue of shares (by subsidiary) 245,000 

 245,000 

Reconciliation of cash:  
Cash acquired 4 

Cash inflow from acquisition 4 

  
 
Revenue and profit contribution 
From the date of acquisition to 30 June 2010, Mingoola Gold Pty Ltd contributed nil to revenue and a loss of 
$846 to the net profit of the Group.  If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2009, the revenue and other 
income of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2010 would have been $7,751,456 and the net profit would 
have been $3,594,648. 
 
Acquisition related costs 
Legal fees, stamp duties, consultant fees and other acquisition-related costs amounting to $31,824 were 
included in the profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2010. 
 
Note 30.  Cash Flow Information 
 
(a) Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with Profit/ (Loss) after Tax: 
 
 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Profit/(loss) after tax (4,800,268) 3,598,343 
Depreciation 54,556 60,961 
Exploration and evaluation assets written off 207,179 412,832 
Share based payments expense 2,936,337 61,732 
Fair value adjustment of financial asset at fair value - 973,868 
Share of losses associates 906,503 979,450 
Impairment of investment in associate 2,098,280 - 
Reversal of impairment – associate (131,356) (3,729,450) 
Gain on loss of control of subsidiary (4,482,171) (3,941,598) 
Loss on deemed disposal - associate 248,446 - 
Other non-cash items 48,344 174,882 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of 
purchase and disposal of subsidiaries: 

  

- (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (147,733) (55,201) 
- (Increase)/decrease in other assets (226,608) (760) 
- Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (749,462) (190,099) 
- Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liabilities (422,785) - 

Net cash flow from operations (4,460,738) (1,655,040) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 30.  Cash Flow Information (continued) 
 
(b) Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities 
 
Equity settled share-based payment transactions are disclosed in note 25. Loss of control of Navaho Gold Ltd is 
disclosed in note 32. Other non-cash investing and financing activities are as follows: 
 
 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Acquisition of Mingoola Gold Pty Ltd by way of issue of shares - 245,000 
Shares received for sale of subsidiary (part consideration) - 3,922,145 
Convertible note received for sale of subsidiary (part consideration) - 1,000,000 
 
 
Note 31.  Financial Risk Management 
 
Financial Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 14,801,474 899,726 
Trade and other receivables 356,612 1,631,879 
Available for sale financial assets 9,531,766 3,623,585 
Cash on deposit 314,000 314,000 
Security bonds 425,330 331,331 

 25,429,182 6,800,521 

Financial Liabilities   
Trade and other payables 1,658,436 1,027,030 
Finance leases 67,376 15,219 

 1,725,812 1,042,249 

 
(a) General Objectives, Policies and Processes 
 
In common with all other businesses, the Group is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial 
instruments.  This note describes the Group‟s objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and 
the methods used to measure them.  Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented 
throughout these financial statements. 
 
There have been no substantive changes in the Group‟s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives, 
policies and processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from previous periods 
unless otherwise stated in this note. 
 
The Group‟s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, receivables and payables, and shares 
in listed corporations. 
 
The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Group‟s risk management objectives and 
policies and, whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for designing and 
operating processes that ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Group‟s 
finance function.  The Group's risk management policies and objectives are designed to minimise the potential 
impacts of these risks on the results of the Group where such impacts may be material. 
 
The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly 
affecting the Group‟s competitiveness and flexibility.  Further details regarding these matters are set out 
below: 
 
(b) Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that the other party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge their obligation 
resulting in the Group incurring a financial loss. This usually occurs when counterparties fail to settle their 
obligations owing to the Group.  The Group‟s objective is to minimise the risk of loss from credit risk exposure. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 31.  Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
(b) Credit Risk (continued) 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, in the event 
other parties fail to discharge their obligations under financial instruments in relation to each class of financial 
asset at reporting date is the carrying amount in the statement of financial position which, for the relevant 
assets, is summarised in the table above. 
 
Credit risk is reviewed regularly by the Board and the audit committee.  It primarily arises from exposure to 
receivables as well as through deposits with financial institutions. 
 
The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under 
financial instruments entered into by the Group.  Bank deposits are held with Macquarie Bank, Westpac and 
the Bank of Queensland. 
 
(c) Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may encounter difficulties raising funds to meet financial obligations as 
they fall due.  The objective of managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that the Group will 
always have sufficient liquidity to meets its liabilities when they fall due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions. 
 
Liquidity risk is reviewed regularly by the Board and the audit committee. 
 
The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and liquidity ratios such as working capital.  
The Group‟s working capital, being current assets less current liabilities, has increased from $1,594,747 in 
2010 to $13,817,509 in 2011.  The Group did not have any financing facilities available at balance date. 
 
Maturity Analysis 2011 Carrying 

Amount 
Contractual 
Cash Flows 

<6 
Months 

6-12 
Months 

1-3 
Years 

> 3 Years 

$ $ $ $ $ $ 
Financial liabilities       
Trade and other payables 1,658,436 1,658,436 1,658,436 - - - 
Finance leases 67,376 82,627 10,173 10,173 40,691 21,590 

Total 1,725,812 1,741,063 1,668,609 10,173 40,691 21,590 

 
Maturity Analysis 2010 Carrying 

Amount 
Contractual 
Cash Flows 

<6 
Months 

6-12 
Months 

1-3 
Years 

> 3 Years 

$ $ $ $ $ $ 
Financial liabilities       
Trade and other payables 1,027,030 1,027,030 1,027,030 - - - 
Finance leases 15,219 15,568 7,784 7,784 - - 

Total 1,042,249 1,042,598 1,034,814 7,784 - - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 31.  Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
(d) Market Risk 
 
Market risk arises from the use of interest bearing, tradable and foreign currency financial instruments.  It is 
the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
interest rates (interest rate risk), foreign exchange rates (currency risk) or other market factors (other price 
risk).  The Group does not have any material exposure to market risk other than interest rate risk and other 
equity securities price risk. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
The objective of interest rate risk management is to manage and control interest rate risk exposures with 
acceptable parameters while optimising the return.  Interest rate risk is managed with a mixture of fixed and 
floating rate instruments.  For further details on interest rate risk refer to the tables below: 
 

 Floating 
Interest Rate 

Fixed Interest 
rate 

Non-interest 
bearing 

Total 
Carrying 
Amount 

Weighted 
Average effective 

interest Rate* 
 2011 

$ 
2011 

$ 
2011 

$ 
2011 

$ 
2011 

% 
(i) Financial Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 3,269,984 11,531,490 - 14,801,474 4.98% 
Trade and other 
receivables - - 356,612 356,612 N/A 
Other financial assets - 314,000 9,957,096 10,271,096 0.85% 

Total financial assets 3,269,984 11,845,490 10,313,708 25,429,182  

(ii) Financial Liabilities      
Trade and other payables - - 1,658,436 1,658,436 N/A 
Other financial liabilities - 67,376 - 67,376 10.16% 

Total financial liabilities - 67,376 1,658,436 1,725,812  

 
* on interest bearing portion 
 

 Floating 
Interest Rate 

Fixed 
Interest rate 

Non-interest 
bearing 

Total Carrying 
Amount 

Weighted 
Average effective 

interest Rate* 
 2010 

$ 
2010 

$ 
2010 

$ 
2010 

$ 
2010 

% 
(i) Financial Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 899,726 - - 899,726 1.00% 
Trade and other 
receivables - 1,000,000 631,879 1,631,879 10.00% 
Other financial assets - 314,000 3,954,916 4,268,916 0.85% 

Total financial assets 899,726 1,314,000 4,586,795 6,800,521  

(ii) Financial Liabilities      
Trade and other payables - - 1,027,030 1,027,030 N/A 
Other financial liabilities - 15,219 - 15,219 9.90% 

Total financial liabilities - 15,219 1,027,030 1,042,249  

 
* on interest bearing portion 

 
The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk.  This demonstrates 
the effect on the profit and equity which could result from a change in these risks. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 31.  Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
(d) Market Risk (Continued) 
 
Interest rate risk (continued) 
 
At 30 June 2011 the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate at that date would be 
as follows: 
 
 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Change in profit and equity   
- Increase in interest rate by 1% 32,699 8,997 
- Decrease in interest rate by 1% (32,699) (8,997) 
 
Equity securities price risk 
 
The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to equity securities price risk.  The 
sensitivity demonstrates the effect on pre-tax profit and equity which could result from a change in these 
risks. 
 
At 30 June 2011 the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in equity security prices would be as 
follows: 
 
 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Change in profit   
- Increase in equity security price by 10% - - 
- Decrease in equity security price by 10%% - - 
Change in equity*   
- Increase in equity security price by 10% 953,177 362,358 
- Decrease in equity security price by 10% (953,177) (362,358) 
 
* Available for sale financial assets reserve/other comprehensive income. 
 
The analysis assumes all other variables remain constant.  It also assumes the investment in Solomon Gold plc 
and Lions Gate Metals Inc. was remeasured to fair value on 30 June 2011 (and that the 10% change had 
occurred as at that date). 
 
It should be noted that the investment in associate is not included in the above analysis as it is outside the 
scope of Accounting Standard AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, as it is accounted for in accordance 
with Accounting Standard AASB 128 Investments in Associates. 
 
(e) Fair Value 
 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their carrying amounts principally due 
to their short-term nature or the fact that they are measured and recognised at fair value. 
 
The following table presents the Group‟s financial assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value 
at 30 June 2011. 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 $ $ $ $ 

2011     
Available for sale financial assets 9,531,766 - - 9,531,766 
2010     
Available for sale financial assets 3,623,585 - - 3,623,585 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 32. Disposal of Subsidiaries 
 
2011 
On 11 April 2011, Navaho Gold Ltd allotted and issued 45,000,000 ordinary shares pursuant to an Initial Public 
Offering and was admitted to the ASX. Following this D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd‟s holding reduced to 29% and control 
was lost. 
 
 2011 

$ 
Fair Value of retained investment in Navaho Gold Ltd at the date of disposal 5,410,553 
Assets and liabilities disposed:  
Cash and cash equivalents (1,087) 
Trade and other receivables 692,021 
Exploration and evaluation assets 1,450,585 
Other non-current assets 5,016 
Trade and other payables (840,020) 
Non-controlling interests (378,133) 

 928,382 

Net gain on disposal 4,482,171 

  
Reconciliation of cash:  
Cash disposed (1,087) 
 
2010 
On 19 February 2010, following the approval of D‟Aguilar shareholders, all of the shares in Central Minerals Pty 
Ltd were sold to Solomon Gold plc. 
 
The consideration received, assets and liabilities disposed and gain on disposal were as follows: 
 
 2010 

$ 
Consideration:  
Cash 1,000,000 
Shares in Solomon Gold at fair value 3,922,145 
Convertible note 1,000,000 
Less costs to sell (22,989) 

Consideration received 5,899,156 

  
Assets and liabilities disposed:  
Cash and cash equivalents 6,465 
Trade and other receivables 4,483 
Exploration and evaluation assets 1,933,871 
Property plant and equipment 35,914 
Other non-current assets 45,000 
Trade and other payables (162,327) 
Lease liabilities (32,548) 
Non-controlling interests 126,700 

 1,957,558 

  
Net gain on disposal 3,941,598 

  
Reconciliation of cash:  
Cash received 1,000,000 
Cash disposed (6,465) 
Costs to sell (22,989) 

Cash inflow from disposal of subsidiary 970,546 

 
The Group received 29.3m shares in Solomon Gold plc which were valued at 13.4 cents per share on the date 
of issue. Refer note 11 for details. 
 
A convertible note was issued by Solomon Gold plc, the terms of which are disclosed in Note 10.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
Note 33. Significant Events After Balance Date 
 
On 1 September 2011, the Company transferred 3,400,000 shares it owned in IronRidge Resources Ltd to the 
original seed investors resulting in the Company‟s shareholding being reduced to 46,600,000 ordinary shares 
(80%). 
 
On 14 September 2011, AusNiCo Ltd announced a capital raising of $1.4 million through a combination of an 
$800,000 private placement and a share purchase plan underwritten to $600,000.  The private placement of 
$800,000 was successfully completed and the respective shares allotted on 20 September 2011.  
 
The Directors are not aware of any other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group or events after 
the balance date that would have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 
 

1. In the opinion of the Directors: 
 

(a) The financial statements and notes of D‟Aguilar Gold Ltd for the financial year ended 30 June 
2011 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 
(i) Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity‟s financial position as at 30 

June 2011 and performance for the year then ended; 
 

(ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 

 

(b) The financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as disclosed in Note 1; and 
 

(c) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable. 

 

2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors 
in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 
2011. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 
 
 
 
 
 

Nicholas Mather 
Managing Director 
 
Brisbane 
Date: 30 September 2011 
 










